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Chairman’s Report

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to welcome you all to the 31st annual general meeting of National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain (NBQ) and present the 
annual report of the Board of Directors for the year ended 31st Dec 2013.

I am pleased to inform you that following a policy of balancing prudence with profitability, NBQ has achieved  total revenue of AED 659.928 million for the 
year ending 31st December 2013 ( 2012: AED 623.194 million) and  net Operating profit before provision figure of AED 441.329 million ( 2012 : 369.824 
million). The net profit of AED 368 million achieved for the same year is 12% higher than the net profit of AED 328.525 million recorded for 2012.  Total 
assets amounted to AED 12.538 billion,    Loans portfolio stood at AED 7.077 billion while Customer deposits amounted to AED 7.441 billion.

Shareholders’ funds at   AED 3.702 billion as at 31.12.2013, registered an increase of 8.2% over the figure of AED 3.419 billion as 31/12/2012. Earnings 
per share increased to 23 fils for 2013, from 21 fils in 2012.

In line with the strategy adopted since 2008 to maintain high liquidity, as at 31st Dec 2013,   liquidity ratio stood at 30.17%. The bank continues to maintain 
one of the highest Capital Adequacy ratios in the country, and  as  at 31st Dec 2013,  recorded a  Capital Adequacy ratio of 33.8 %  well over the minimum 
12% stipulated by the UAE Central Bank, which is highlighting the Bank’s financial strength. Likewise the Tier 1 ratio of 32.2 % is also well in excess of the 
minimum 7% stipulated by the UAE Central Bank.

In order to strengthen the shareholders’ funds further by retaining a portion of the profit earned, the Board has recommended payment of cash dividend 
of 16% and share dividend of 5% of the Share Capital for the year ending 31st December 2013.

The decline to the global economy during the earlier four years was to some extent arrested during 2013, and in particular, the US economy registered a 
small growth and the euro area is crawling out of recession.  The UAE economy is likely to register a growth of around 4 % for 2014, thanks to a robust 
4.5% growth in non-oil economy according to the IMF estimates. Dubai’s winning bid to host the Expo 2020 is seen as a major catalyst in its economic 
rebound according to most economists and analysts.  The US tapering is expected to have an impact on interest rates in the medium to long term. Both 
the DFM and ADX bourses received the upgrade to the emerging market status by MSCI during the year, which resulted in them recording one of their 
highest growths in the recent years. Overall, the banking sector in the UAE has seen a good growth in 2013 amidst positive macroeconomic performances. 
Looking ahead, the global activity is expected to strengthen moderately and the outlook for 2014, with improved investor sentiments, GDP is expected to 
improve to 4.5% according to the IMF estimates.

NBQ continued to adopt a cautious approach towards credit expansion and concentrated its efforts on close monitoring of the existing credit portfolio. 
Going forward, the Bank has a clear strategy in place to further enhance shareholder returns and take advantage of the expected growth opportunities in 
select sectors and to continue its policy of cautious expansion of its activity.

Looking ahead, during 2014, the UAE government is expected to increase spending on infra-structure projects especially with the improvement to the 
investors’ sentiment on the back of Dubai winning its bid to host the 2020. The bank is confident of building on its strong balance sheet with a balanced 
growth of its assets and liabilities on the back of targeted increase to government budget spending.  The strategic development plans launched under 
the initiatives of His Highness Sh.Khalifa Bin Zayed Al Nahyan, President of the UAE, in all the emirates, based on the needs and aspirations of the UAE 
nationals, is certain to improve the quality of life of all the communities in the UAE.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express my gratitude to His Highness Sheikh Saud Bin Rashid Al Mualla – Ruler of Umm Al-Qaiwain 
and Member of the Supreme Council of the United Arab Emirates – for his continued support for the development of NBQ.

I would also like to state my appreciation for the ongoing initiatives and support of the UAE Central Bank to regulate the country’s financial sector and for 
their helpful guidance to NBQ during this year. Equally important has been the steadfast confidence of our shareholders, the loyalty of our customers and 
business partners and the dedicated efforts of our management and staff. Together they have contributed to the success of NBQ and continue to provide 
us with the strength and determination to face all future challenges.

RASHID BIN SAUD AL MUALLA
Chairman

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to welcome you all to the 38th Annual General Meeting of the bank and present the annual report 
of the Board of Directors for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Despite global economic challenges and severe competition in the UAE Banking Sector, I hereby inform that the Bank has achieved net 
profit of AED 211.77 million. Our total revenue reached AED 561.08 million and operating income stood at AED 324.21 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2020.

Total assets reached AED 13.55 billion. Loans and advances were at AED 7.64 billion, while customer deposits stood at AED 8.22 billion. 
The Bank holds collateral and specific provision to the tune of 168% of the non-performing loans, which reflects prudent management 
and effective monitoring of our loans and advances portfolio. The Bank has consistently maintained high level of liquidity as in the past 
and liquidity ratio as of 31 December 2020 stands at 38.66%. Cost to income ratio is 31.56%.

Shareholders’ equity amounted to AED 4.70 billion as at 31 December 2020. We continue to maintain one of the highest capital adequacy 
ratios in the banking industry which stands at 41.45% and is far higher than the minimum prescribed levels stipulated by Central Bank 
of the UAE. This demonstrates the financial strength of the Bank and its capacity to expand its lending and investment capability, when 
needed. Tier 1 ratio is recorded at 40.34%, which is also substantially higher than the prescribed limits stipulated by the regulatory 
authorities.

Payment of cash dividend of 8% of the paid up share capital for the year ending 31 December 2020 has been approved by Central Bank 
of the UAE.

Central Bank of the UAE and IMF have projected a decline in UAE’s economic forecast during 2020 which is predominantly due to impact 
of COVID-19 on the country’s vital sectors such as tourism and hospitality, airlines and trade. Further, lower oil production was observed 
during 2020 on the back of lower prices and global demand.

Central Bank of the UAE has projected the non-oil economy to contract by 4.5% in 2020 as a whole due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
while it is expected to grow by 3.6% in 2021. IMF has projected UAE’s economic forecast of 6.6% contraction in 2020 and the economy 
is expected to rebound with GDP growth of 1.3% in 2021. Central Bank of the UAE has suggested that the economy will rebound 
from an expected contraction in 2020 mainly due to the flexible package offered by the UAE government this year to support the 
economic recovery and by further enhancing the confidence of investors and business owners in the country’s markets and increasing the 
competitiveness of vital economic sectors. In this respect the government has recently enacted some key structural reforms to support 
the potential for growth in the non-oil sector such as opening up some sectors to 100% foreign ownership.

During the year 2020 market yields faced a sudden downward shock due to the drop in the interest rates to near zero levels by Central 
Banks all over the world, including the US Federal Reserve, owing to the damage caused to the economies by the ongoing COVID-19 
pandemic. The Bank is no exception to this shock of low yields in its investment/syndicated loan portfolio. However, the Bank managed 
returns by way of dividends from equity portfolio and interest income from the high yield bonds. The Bank has always adopted the time 
tested prudent investment policies and exit strategies while practicing risk mitigation techniques.

However, the future looks optimistic with growth projected in GDP for 2021, assuming the pandemic gets contained with mass availability 
of vaccine roll out during first half of 2021. Further, business sentiment have improved and a boost in economy is expected from Dubai 
Expo 2020.
Equity markets have rebounded from the lows seen in March-April 2020 and are expected to continue the upward trend during 2021 also 
driven by liquidity with the expansionary monetary policies by Central Banks worldwide.
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RASHID BIN SAUD AL MUALLA
Chairman

Outlook for 2021

2020 was an unprecedented year with financial, economic and operational challenges brought by the COVID-19 pandemic. There was 
lack of credit demand in the economy and Central Bank of the UAE took timely actions which helped the banking sector sail through the 
uncertain times. 

Bank remains cautiously optimistic about 2021 and remains vigilant. Bank continues to maintain high governance standards and has 
framed a clear strategy to enhance shareholder returns by taking advantage of the expected growth opportunities in wholesale, retail and 
treasury segments. Bank plans to diversify its asset base and income streams along with deployment of new technologies. Customer 
centricity remains a key priority as the bank strives to enhance the customer satisfaction and deliver a differentiated digital experiences 
which has become vital in the post pandemic world.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, we would like to express our gratitude to His Highness Sheikh Saud Bin Rashid Al Mualla – Ruler of 
Umm Al-Qaiwain and Member of the Supreme Council of the United Arab Emirates – for the continued support for the development of 
the Bank.

We would also like to state our sincere appreciation for the on-going initiatives and support provided by Central Bank of the UAE to 
regulate the country’s financial sector and for their helpful guidance to the Bank during this year.

We would like to express our sincere appreciation and gratitude to our shareholders, customers and correspondent banks for achieving 
our objectives and maintaining continued success in our operations.  

We have a good team of talented management officials and staff members who are committed and loyal to the Bank and we value their 
contribution. On behalf of the Board of Directors, we would like to express our sincere thanks to all our employees for their contribution 
to the success of the Bank and in providing us strength to meet future challenges.

Rashid Bin Saud Al Mualla
Chairman
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Despite global economic challenges and severe competition in the UAE Banking Sector, the Bank has achieved net profit of AED 211.77 million. 
Total revenue reached AED 561.08 million and operating income stood at AED 324.21 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Total assets reached AED 13.55 billion. Loans and advances were at AED 7.64 billion, while customer deposits stood at AED 8.22 billion. The 
Bank holds collateral and specific provision to the tune of 168% of the non-performing loans, which reflects prudent management and effective 
monitoring of our loans and advances portfolio. The Bank has consistently maintained high level of liquidity as in the past and liquidity ratio as of 
31 December 2020 stands at 38.66%. Cost to income ratio is 31.56%.

Shareholders’ equity amounted to AED 4.70 billion as at 31 December 2020. The Bank continue to maintain one of the highest capital adequacy 
ratios in the banking industry, which stands at 41.45% and is far higher than the minimum prescribed levels stipulated by Central Bank of the UAE. 
This demonstrates the financial strength of the Bank and its capacity to expand its lending and investment capability, when needed. Tier 1 ratio 
is recorded at 40.34%, which is also substantially higher than the prescribed limits stipulated by the regulatory authorities.

Payment of cash dividend of 8% of the share capital for the year ending 31 December 2020 has been approved by Central Bank of the UAE.

ECONOMIC OVERVIEW

In its latest report, IMF has estimated 3.5% contraction in the Global economic growth during 2020 while it is projected to grow by 5.5% in 2021 
and by 4.2% in 2022. In contrast to estimated real contractions of 7.5% in the Eurozone, 6.1% in Emerging Markets and 5.4% in Japan, non-oil 
real GDP growth in the GCC is expected to contract by 4.7% in 2020. Softer landing in the Gulf bloc is due to the exceptional fiscal packages 
rolled out by governments from the start of the pandemic and the GCC economies’ relatively small share of the worst affected sectors. 

According to IMF, UAE’s economy is expected to contract by 6.6% in 2020 mainly due to impact of COVID-19 on the country’s vital sectors, fall 
in oil prices, lower oil production, reduced oil demand globally and disruption in global supply chains. It has projected GDP growth to rebound 
by 1.3% in 2021, assuming the pandemic is contained with a vaccine available for wide distribution in the first half of 2021. It is also expected to 
grow by 2.50% in 2022, supported by government’s mitigation and recovery plans, higher oil prices and production capacity, improved business 
sentiment and a boost from Dubai Expo 2021. 

CBUAE has suggested that the economy will rebound from an expected contraction in 2020 mainly due to the flexible package offered by the 
UAE government this year to support the economic recovery and by further enhancing the confidence of investors and business owners in the 
country’s markets and increasing the competitiveness of vital economic sectors. In this respect, the government has recently enacted some key 
structural reforms such as opening up some sectors to 100% foreign ownership.  

The aggregate deficit has tripled to 11.6% of regional GDP on the back of low oil prices. As a result, a steady regional effort to cut spending in 
2021-23 is forecasted as governments strive to engender a degree of longer-term fiscal sustainability.

Central Banks worldwide had reduced interest rates and loosened their respective monetary policies to fight the economic fallout of the pandemic 
during 2020. As the pandemic is still on, interest rates are expected to remain at current low levels in 2021 also, although with the roll out of the 
vaccines, growth is expected to be robust in the second half of 2021. Under such low interest rate scenario, Banks worldwide and particularly in 
GCC are expected to take a hit on profitability while facing increased problematic assets in the absence of additional support measures from the 
governments.

Equity markets have rebounded from the lows seen in March-April 2020 and are expected to continue the upward trend during 2021 also driven 
by liquidity with the ultra-loose monetary policies by Central Banks worldwide.

Treasury, Investments and Institutional Banking: 
During the year market yields faced a sudden downward shock due to the drop in the interest rates to near zero levels by Central Banks all over 
the world owing to the damage caused to the economies by the ongoing Corona Virus pandemic. NBQ is no exception to this shock of low yields 
in its investment/syndicated loan portfolio as the matured high yield investments were replaced with lower yield investments. However, NBQ could 
still manage decent returns during the year by way of dividends from equity portfolio and interest income from the existing high yield bonds. NBQ 
has always adopted the time tested prudent investment policies and exit strategies while practicing risk mitigation techniques.

٨

مسودة – تقرير اإلدارة التنفيذية

عقــب التراجــع  القــوي فــى االقتصــاد العالمــي علــى مــدى الســنوات األربــع الماضيــة منــذ عــام 2008 ، شــهد عــام 2013 انتعاشــا اقتصاديــا، وإن كان طفيفــا، يرجــع بحــد 
كبيــر الــى النمــو الضئيــل فــي االقتصــاد االمريكــي.  وبينمــا ال يــزال االقتصــاد األوروبــي يزحــف للخــروج مــن الركــود، ســجل اقتصــادات دول مجلــس التعــاون الخليجــي 
وعلــى وجــه الخصــوص دولــة اإلمــارات نمــوا بنســبة 4٪ فــي عــام 2013. هــذا، وقــد واصــل بنــك أم القيويــن الوطنــي نهجــه فــي التركيــز عــن كثــب علــى مراقبــة نوعيــة 

األصــول، والحفــاظ علــى ســيولة قويــة وتحســين البنيــة التحتيــة وقنــوات التوصيــل، وفــي الوقــت نفســه الحفــاظ علــى مســتويات ربحيــة مقبولــة.

وعلــى الرغــم مــن البيئــة المليئــة بالتحديــات،  يســرني أن أعلــن أن بنــك أم القيويــن الوطنــي  قــد حقــق أرباحــا صافيــة قدرهــا 368 مليــون درهــم فــي 2013، مســجال نســبة 
نمــو 12٪ اعلــى مــن الربــح الصافــي لعــام 2012 والبالــغ  328.5 مليــون درهــم.

ــالء  ــع العم ــة ودائ ــت محفظ ــن بلغ ــي حي ــم، ف ــار دره ــروض 7.077 ملي ــة الق ــم و محفظ ــار دره ــغ 12.538 ملي ــام 2013 مبل ــة ع ــي نهاي ــول ف ــي األص ــغ إجمال بل
7.441 مليــار درهــم. كمــا ارتفعــت حقــوق المســاهمين 3.702 مليــار درهــم كمــا فــي 2013/12/31 وبزيــادة قدرهــا 8٪ مقارنــة مــع  3.419 مليــار درهــم كمــا فــي 

ــس(. ــي 31 ديســمبر 2013 )2012 - 21 فل ــا ف ــغ 23 فلســا كم ــد بل ــح الســهم فق ــا رب 2013/12/31.  أم

اســتمر البنــك فــي الحفــاظ علــى مســتويات ســيولة قويــة خــالل العــام. ترجــع الســيولة القويــة ونســب كفايــة رأس المــال الجيــدة لدينــا الــى التحســن فــي سياســتنا التمويليــة 
بســبب اســتمرار التركيــز علــى االســتفادة المثلــى مــن الميزانيــة العموميــة. هــذا، وقــد بلغــت نســبة كفايــة رأس المــال لــدى البنــك 33.8 ٪، منهــا نســبة الشــق االول ٪32.2، 

وبذلــك يكــون واحــدة مــن أعلــى المعــدالت فــي المنطقــة االمــر الــذي يــدل علــى مــدى قــوة البنــك.

التوقعات المستقبلية لعام 2014:

مــع التوقعــات بــأن يشــهد االقتصــاد الوطنــي نمــوا ملحوظــا خــالل عــام 2014، وفقــا لتنبــؤات معظــم االقتصادييــن بمــا فــي ذلــك صنــدوق النقــد الدولــي، فــإن آفــاق النمــو 
ال تــزال إيجابيــة.  إن فــوز دبــي باســتضافة معــرض اكســبو 2020، وتســجيل بورصــات االمــارات أعلــى العوائــد خــالل عــام 2013 مقارنــة بالســنوات القليلــة الماضيــة، 
قــد عــزز ثقــة المســتثمرين بشــكل واضــح.  وفــي ظــل وجــود مســتوى ســيولة قــوي  وسياســة تمويليــة ناجحــة ، فــان البنــك فــي وضــع جيــد يهيئــة لالســتفادة مــن فــرص 

النمــو وعلــى االخــص فــي قطاعــات التجزئــة والضيافــة والســياحة.

الخزانة واالستثمارات :

هيمنــت عالمــات االنتعــاش فــي االقتصــاد األمريكــي  وبــدء االحتياطــي الفيدرالــي بالتقليــل مــن عمليــات شــراء الســندات علــى قــرارات االســتثمار خــالل العــام.  واســتمرت 
أزمــة الديــون األوروبيــة مــع تراجعهــا عــن المشــهد فــي ظــل التوقعــات باحتمــال حصــول تغييــر فــي معــدل الفائــدة االمريكيــة.  هــذا، وقــد شــهد ســوق الســندات المحليــة 
ومنطقــة دول مجلــس التعــاون الخليجــي نشــاطا بوجــود إصــدارات مــن البنــوك والشــركات لالســتفادة مــن أســعار الفائــدة المنخفضــة. وحققــت أســواق األســهم اإلماراتيــة 

طفــرة جيــده خــالل عــام 2013.

واصــل البنــك سياســته فــي التركيــز علــى االســتثمارات ذات الجــودة العاليــة التــي تحقــق مســتوى ربحــي معقــول مــع المحافظــة علــى معاييــر المخاطــر.  إن مســاهمات 
الســوق األوليــة والثانويــة فــي القــروض المشــتركة قــد ضمــن توزيــع مربــح  لألمــوال الفائضــة.  لقــد أســفرت المبــادرات والقــرارات االســتراتيجية التــي تــم اتخاذهــا خــالل 

العــام فــي تحقيــق نتائــج جيــدة للبنــك بشــكل كبيــر. كمــا واصلــت ادارة الخزانــه بالبنــك تركيزهــا علــى الربحيــة وجــودة الخدمــة للعمــالء.

الخدمات المصرفية للشركات :

إن السياســة الحــذرة  التــي انتهجهــا  البنــك عــام 2012 باتباعــه نهجــا انتقائيــا بشــان عمليات االقــراض قــد وضعــت البنــك علــى  أرضيــة راســخة.  ومــع اســتمراره فــي 
اتبــاع نفــس النهــج، ومــع زيــادة الثقــة فــي اقتصــاد االمــارات واســترجاع ســوق العقــارات عافيتــه، نجــح البنــك فــي تحقيــق ارقــام نمــو  فــي ظــل نمــو اقتصــادي مســتقر.  
كذلــك شــهد االقتصــاد غيــر النفطــي انتعاشــا قويــا  خصوصــا فــي قطــاع  التجــارة والخدمــات اللوجســتية والســياحة.  إن فــوز دبــي باســتضافة معــرض اكســبو 2020 ، 
يُشــّكل دفعــة قويــة لالقتصــاد ويســاهم فــي تعزيز زيــادة فــرص االســتثمار. وفــي الوقــت الراهــن إن البنــك فــي وضــع جيــد يؤهلــه لالســتفادة مــن إمكانــات النمــو.  وتقــوم 
اســتراتيجية البنــك فــي عــام 2014 علــى تعزيــز قطاعــات األعمــال األساســية مــن خــالل التســويق الفعــال والتركيــز علــى تطويــر األعمــال الجديــدة لتحقيــق معــدالت نمــو 

ــرة. ــة  واقتناص حصــة ســوقية كبي عالي
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الخدمات المصرفية لالفراد : 

تتوافــر لــدى البنــك شــبكة خدمــات مصرفيــة لألفــراد تضــم 17 فرعــا باالضافــة الــى 14 وحــدة خدمــات مصرفيــة الكترونيــة منتشــرة فــي جميــع انحــاء االمــارات بهــدف 
تقديــم افضــل الخدمــات المصرفيــة للعمــالء . ويقــوم البنــك بتقديــم مجموعــة متكاملــة مــن منتجــات اإلقــراض والودائــع لخدمــة عمالئــه مــن األفــراد الــى جانــب اصحــاب 
المشــروعات  الصغيــرة. كمــا قــام البنــك بتحديــث وتجديــد فروعــه فــرع تلــو اآلخــر لخلــق أجــواء مريحــة وتوفيــر بيئــة أفضــل لخدمــة العمــالء.  وخــالل عــام  2014 لــدى 
البنــك خطــط لتوســيع فروعــه وشــبكات الوحــدات المصرفيــة االلكترونيــة مــن أجــل تعزيــز قنــوات التوزيــع كجــزء مــن التزامنــا المســتمر علــى أن نكــون قريبيــن مــن كافــة 

عمالئنــا وتحســين الخدمــات المقدمــة لهــم لتلبيــة احتياجاتهــم بمــا يحقــق رضاهــم ويفــوق توقعاتهــم.

اتبع البنك نهجا اقراضيا حذرا خالل عام 2013 وكان تركيزه بشكل اكبر على تعزيز والحفاظ على جودة محفظة األصول لقطاع االفراد. 

وفــي مجــال الصيرفــة االســالمية، قــام البنــك بمراجعــة منتجــات التمويــل اإلســالمي لجعلهــا أكثــر جاذبيــة وتلبيــة الحتياجــات العمــالء بمــا يمكنهــم مــن الوفــاء بالتزاماتهــم 
الماليــة قصيــرة األمــد و بأســعار تنافســية.

 ولزيــادة حصتــه الســوقية مــن المنتجــات اإلســالمية، حــرص البنــك علــى  التركيــز علــى برامــج التمويــل الســكني مــن خــالل تقديــم برنامــج بيــت التيســير لمواطنــي الدولــة 
والــذي الزال يالقــى اقبــاال جيــدا وقبــوال واســعا مــن العمــالء.  كان النمــو فــي صافــي محفظــة االقــراض لقطــاع خدمــة االفــراد طفيفــا مقارنــة مــع العــام الســابق لتركيزنــا 

بدرجــة أكبــر علــى اتخــاذ الحيطــة والحــذر عنــد ممارســة نشــاط اإلقــراض.

 اســتمر البنــك فــي بــذل جهــوده الدؤوبــة نحــو تعزيــز منتجاتــه وخدماتــه مــن خــالل ايجــاد قنــوات توزيــع بديلــة وذلــك بتوفيــر الخدمــات المصرفيــة اإللكترونيــة لعمــالء 
نظــام حمايــة األجــور وتقديــم الخدمــات المصرفيــة المتميــزة للعمــالء مــن الفــروع المختــارة. 

كمــا قــام البنــك بتطويــر الخدمــات المقدمــة مــن خــالل الوحــدات المصرفيــة اإللكترونيــة وذلــك بإنشــاء أجهــزة اإليــداع النقــدي فــي مواقــع مختلفــة بغــرض توفيــر خدمــة 
ســريعة ومريحــة للعمــالء مــع إبقــاء تلــك الوحــدات مفتوحــة مــن الســاعة 8:00 صباحــا حتــي 8:00 مســاءا مــن أجــل تعزيــز راحــة العمــالء. 

وفقــا لتوجيهــات ســمو رئيــس دولــة اإلمــارات العربيــة المتحــدة، وتخفيــف العــبء علــى المواطنيــن الذيــن تضــرروا مــن القضايــا االقتصاديــة واالجتماعيــة، شــارك البنــك 
طواعيــة فــي برنامــج صنــدوق تســوية ديــون المواطنيــن المتعثريــن.

إدارة المخاطر

مخاطر االئتمان :

وضــع البنــك هيكال تنظيميا محــددا تحديــدا جيدا مــن ثــالث مســتويات تــم مــن خاللــه فصــل الوحــدات حســب المهــام التــي تؤديهــا حيــث تــم وضــع  وحــدة خدمــة العمــالء 
فــي المكتــب االمامي، ووحــدة مخاطــر االئتمــان والموافقــات المركزيــة فــي الخــط االوســط ،  ووحــدة تنفيــذ عمليات االئتمــان والشــئون االداريــة  في المكتــب الخلفــي.  لقــد 

كان الســتقاللية الوحــدات الثالثــة وفصــل مهامها االثــر الكبيــر فــي تحقيــق اعلــى درجات الحمايــة للتعــرض للمخاطــر فــي عمليــة االئتمــان. 

قــام البنــك بوضــع سياســات مخاطــر اإلئتمــان بشــكل جيــد ويتــم االلتــزام بهــا علــى جميــع المســتويات. كذلــك يقــوم البنــك بتحديــث دليــل  سياســات  مخاطــر  االئتمــان  
ــدة  ــة التجارية بصــورة جي ــف المخاطــر لقطــاع الخدمــات المصرفي ــة والمســتجدة.  يعمــل نظــام ادارة االئتمــان وتصني ــات العمــل  التنظيمي بصــورة مســتمرة وفقا لمتطلب

ــم.  ــة التقيي ــاء  عملي ــم المخاطر اثن ــاس وتقيي ــد وجــودة قي ــان  توحي لضم

 وكجــزء من الجهــود الحثيثــة لمراقبــة  االئتمــان،  تقــوم وحدة احتواء المخاطــر بالتركيــز علــى  رصــد إشــارات اإلنــذار المبكــر  والقيــام بالزيــارات الميدانيــة للمشــاريع 
والمتابعات الدوريــة التخــاذ اإلجــراءات المناســبة فــي الوقــت المالئــم. ويتــم ادارة الحســابات المتعثــرة والقــروض غيــر العاملــة مــن خــالل وحــدة اإلجــراءات العالجيــة 
التابعــة الدارة االئتمــان. تقــوم وحــدة إدارة المحافــظ االســتثمارية برصــد مخاطــر االنكشــاف ســواء علــى المســتوى الفــردي أو المســتوى القطاعــي .  ويعمــل البنــك علــى 

تطبيــق معاييــر التقييــم الداخليــة وفقــا الطــار عمــل  بــازل 2 حســب توجيهــات مصــرف االمــارات المركــزي فــي هــذا الصــدد.

: II االلتزام باتفاقية بازل

التزم البنك بالتقيد بتعليمات المصرف المركزي المبنية على المعايير الصادرة من لجنة بازل بخصوص إتباع نهج موحد إلحتساب نسب كفاية رأس المال. 

كما التزم البنك باالمتثال لقواعد الدعامة الثانية والدعامة الثالثة من معيار كفاية رأس المال بما في ذلك تقديم تقارير سنوية الى مصرف االمارات المركزي.

يقــوم البنــك بإجــراء اختبــارات الضغــط بهــدف تقييــم مخاطــر الســيولة، ومخاطــر أســعار الفائــدة ومخاطــر أســعار األوراق الماليــة والســلع.  وقــد اظهــرت النتائــج أن البنــك 
فــي وضــع جيــد وان النتائــج متماشــية مــع نظــام إدارة المخاطــر الــذي يتبعــه البنــك مــع وجــود فائــض كبيــر بيــن رأس المــال المتــاح ورأس المــال التظيمــي )الرقابــي( يســمح 

لــه بتغطيــة أي خســائر غيــر متوقعــة ال ســمح هللا مــن المخاطــر األخــرى المالزمــة لمســارات األعمــال.

تقرير اإلدارة التنفيذية » تتمة« 
Management Review (continued)

Wholesale Banking:
Year 2020 was a challenging year for UAE economy due to Covid pandemic. The Central Bank of UAE introduced TESS measures to mitigate the 
hardship to businesses. NBQ participated wholeheartedly in this initiative and assisted its customers in dealing with the unprecedented situation. 
The measures have been extended by Central Bank up to 30th June 2021 as the situation continues to be in a delicate balance despite the 
measures taken by UAE to vaccinate the entire population of the country.

With optimism, we look forward to the many opportunities 2021 will bring for NBQ given its high Capital Adequacy levels and well-established 
business practices.

Retail Banking Division offers its wide range of products and services to individuals as well as Small and Medium Scale Enterprises for their 
business needs. NBQ offers its services to customers through Branch banking, network of ATMs and CCDMs across UAE. It also offers Mobile 
and Online banking services.

In light of prevailing market conditions, NBQ continued to be prudent in assessment of customer requests for loans and exercise caution and 
care across all segment of customers. Profitability of Retail Asset products was a focus area while considering lending proposals for long-term 
sustainability. Furthermore, NBQ continued to be compliant with Central Bank norms and offered TESS scheme to eligible customers.

Information Technology and Operation: 
During the year 2020, NBQ continued the focus on information technology transformation. Many of the core systems got integrated with enterprise 
service bus and the inter system communications have become more stable, secure, available and auditable.  During this year, additional payment 
system modules went live in line with earlier plan. NBQ continued with card system improvements and migrated all cards to contactless cards and 
launched multi-currency prepaid card for the customers. Tokenization project is initiated and expected to complete in the first quarter of next year, 
which will permit NBQ to launch additional online payment systems. Replacement of document management, CRM and reconciliation systems 
with updated systems are under progress and expected to conclude next year. External audits on National Electronic Security Authority and 
Payment Card Industry security requirements were concluded with satisfactory levels of compliance. Bank is now in the course of compliance with 
identified improvement requirements. Business continuity / Disaster recovery exercises were conducted around the year for critical applications 
and business operations were carried out from disaster recovery site successfully.

Human Resources: 
NBQ undertakes strategic initiatives to manage and mitigate the risks and industry challenges with a focus to improve the performance and 
profitability. Evaluation of staff requirements are undertaken to optimally utilize the human resources and reward and retain capable and talented 
resources to improve operational efficiency and performance. NBQ maintains high ratio of UAE National work force and empower them in 
leadership roles and contemplate to utilize them for the decision-making roles in future as well. Constant reviews of our internal policies, strategic 
vision to upgrade and empowerment policies are being carried out to maintain and promote a motivated UAE National Workforce.

Human Resources and Emiratization Department values training, talent identification, career planning and succession planning as key objectives 
to motivate the workforce and as a retention strategy.  Upgrade of the existing Human Resources System is completed to meet the above 
requirements with an interactive approach in maintaining up to date data with less manual involvement.  Retention of staff members in key 
positions is being handled with Emiratization as a focus to maintain the regulatory thresholds.

Corporate Governance: 
NBQ believes in maintaining good corporate governance, risk management principles, internal control systems and ethical standards that are 
commensurate with the size and core values derived from good governance industry practices, vision and mission of the Bank.

In line with regulations and standards on corporate governance published in 2019 by UAE Central Bank and Abu Dhabi Securities (ADX), 
NBQ’s Board of Directors has revised Board Charter and approved three-year implementation plan to enhance its current corporate governance 
framework. Bank has taken all measures to enhance the concepts of internal controls, transparency, disclosures, insider trading, conflict of interest 
management, monitoring related party transactions, Sharia governance framework and charter by revising all related policies and procedures on 
corporate governance framework. 

Transparency and disclosure requirements are key factors considered by the Board in its actions, which are fundamental to the compliance of the 
governance practices and communicate with the senior management through appropriate communication forums.
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المخاطر السوقية:

بتبنــى البنــك منهجــا متكامــال الدارة مخاطــر الســوق يســاعده فــي االســتعداد لمواجهــة االوضــاع الصعبــة التــي قــد تتعــرض لهــا تعامالتــه ومحافــظ اســتثماراته ومحافــظ 
االصول/المطلوبــات. يعمــل البنــك فــي ظــل اطــارا محــدد للسياســات المعتمــدة مــن قبــل مجلــس االدارة والــذي يحــدد مســتوى االقــدام علــى المخاطــرة، ووجــود هيــكال 
تنظيميــا محــددا لوظائــف وعمليــات ادارة مخاطــر الســوق حيــث يتــم تحديــد مخاطــر الســوق التــي يتعــرض لهــا البنــك، ويتــم قياســها ومراقبتهــا والتحكــم فيهــا  فــي إطــار 
سياســة متســقة مــع قــدره البنــك علــى تحمــل المخاطــر.  وتقــوم السياســات علــى اســاس وضــع عــدد مــن الممارســات االداريــة واالجــراءات وتعييــن حــدود لحصــر المخاطــر، 

وتصميــم آليــات الرصــد ونظــم التبليــغ عــن المخاطــر.

يقــوم البنــك باجــراء إختبــارات ضغــط الســيولة فــي إطــار ســيناريوهات مختلفــة علــى فتــرات دوريــة لتقييــم االثــر علــى الســيولة وتقييــم القــدرة علــى العمــل فــي الظــروف 
الصعبــة. كمــا يقــوم البنــك بإجــراء اختبــارات الضغــط لتقييــم مخاطــر أســعار الفائــدة بســجالت البنــك ومخاطــر تقلبــات االســعار فــي محفظــة االســهم بأكملهــا. يتــم مراجعــة 
النتائــج المتحصــل عليهــا مــن قبــل لجنــة إدارة الموجــودات والمطلوبــات بالبنــك والتــي تبيــن بــأن البنــك فــي وضــع جيــد وان النتائــج متماشــية مــع نظــام إدارة المخاطــر 

الــذي يتبعــه البنــك. 

يتوافــر لــدى البنــك خطــة طــوارئ تمويليــة تحــدد بوضــوح مــدى توافــر وحجــم وتوقيــت جميــع مصــادر الســيولة المتاحــة فــي البنــك لمواجهــة الحــاالت الطارئــة فــي االحــداث 
الضاغطــة. . وتتضمــن خطــة الطــوارئ التمويليــة العمليــات واالجــراءات الموثقــة المطلــوب اتخاذهــا لمواجهــة التدفقــات النقديــة الخارجــة وتحديــد المهــام  والمســؤوليات 

لتنفيــذ الخطــة بصــورة فعالــة.

المخاطر التشغيلية:

ــاس والســيطرة وتخفيــض  ــم وقي ــك إســتراتيجيته الدارة مخاطــر التشــغيل مــن خــالل وضــع إطــار عمــل شــامل مدعــم بالسياســات واالجــراءات لرصــد وتقيي ينتهــج البن
ــادة. ــة المعت المخاطــر الناشــئة عــن الممارســات المصرفي

يتــم بشــكل دوري رصــد وتقييــم المخاطــر التشــغيلية مــن خــالل االبــالغ عــن الحــدث وتقييــم المخاطــر الناتجــة عنــه حيــث يتــم  تحديــد المخاطــر وإدارتهــا والتخفيــف منهــا 
وفقــا لالطــار العــام المعتمــد. وفــي الحــاالت التــي تكــون فيهــا المخاطــر ناتجــة عــن العمليــات القائمــة، يتــم إدخــال تحســينات علــى تلــك العمليــات للســيطرة عليهــا. عــالوة 
علــى مــا تقــدم، يحــرص البنــك علــى دراســة النشــاطات التشــغيلية المعتــادة لمتابعــة المخاطــر المحتملــة التــي قــد تســبب خســارة للبنــك ومــن ثــم ادخــال التحســينات عليهــا 

إذا دعــت الحاجــة لذلــك.

يســتعد البنــك نحــو االنتقــال إلــى نهــج أكثــر تقدمــا باســتخدام الطريقــة المعياريــة )TSA( أو طريقــة القيــاس المتقدمــة )AMA( فــي الوقــت المناســب حينمــا يطلــب المصــرف 
المركــزي البنــوك القيــام بذلــك بــدال عــن طريقــة منهــج المؤشــر االساســي المســتخدمة فــي الوقــت الحاضــر .

خطة مواجهة الطوارئ واستمرارية العمل :

لضمــان عــدم تعطــل ســير العمــل بالبنــك بســبب أي أحــداث /كــوارث غيــر متوقعــة أو الســباب متعلقــة بأعطــال فــي النظــام، فــإن البنــك فــي المرحلــة النهائيــة مــن بــدء 
تشــغيل موقــع التعافــي مــن الكــوارث كمــا يقــوم حاليــا بوضــع اللمســات األخيــرة علــى خطــة اســتمرارية األعمــال. 

تكنولوجيا المعلومات والعمليات:

يتــم تطويــر أنظمــة البنيــة التحتيــة لتقنيــة المعلومــات بصفــة مســتمرة بفضــل االســتثمارات االســتراتيجية مــن قبــل اإلدارة لضمــان توافــر وكفــاءة النظــم والتطبيقــات الهامــة.  
وفــي هــذا الســياق، تــم خــالل العــام  اســتبدال نظــام تخزيــن معلومــات البنــك بوحــدة تخزيــن  من فئــة المؤسســات فائقــة  األداء.  ومــع هــذا التعزيــز للبنيــة التحتيــة، يتــم 
اآلن توفيــر بيانــات اإلنتــاج الهامــة بواســطة وحــدة التخزيــن مــن فئــة المؤسســات  بانســياب وســهولة وكفــاءة واداء يتناســب مــع متطلبــات العمــل الصعبــة وخطــط النمــو 
ــارات  ــادرة عن مصرف اإلم ــب التوجيهات الص ــاءة حس ــر بكف ــم المباش ــق نظام الخص ــل تطبي ــة مث ــات الهام ــض التطبيق ــذ بع ــم تنفي ــك،  ت ــن ذل ــال ع ــتقبلية.  فض المس
المركــزي. كمــا تــم اســتكمال تنفيــذ تقنيــة النســخ المتماثــل الكترونيــا مــع موقــع اســتعادة البيانــات لجميــع التطبيقــات الهامــة لضمــان توافــر البيانــات فــي حالــة فشــل موقــع 
اإلنتــاج.  وفــي الوقــت الحاضــر يعتبــر برنامــج اســتعادة المعلومــات  االتوماتيكــي فــي مرحلــه التشــغيل النهائيــة. كمــا انــه قــد تــم تطبيــق برنامــج مكافحــة غســيل األمــوال 

بنجــاح. 

تقرير اإلدارة التنفيذية » تتمة «
Management Review (continued)

Board Committee: 
Board Meetings are conducted as per the Board Charters, Memorandum and Articles of Association and as per the Federal and Company Law 
provisions.  Minimum of six board meetings are held in a year.

Board of Directors decides the risk profile appropriate to the Bank’s growth strategy.  Board approves the different risk management strategies, 
policies, standards, key operational limits and delegates risk and governance related responsibilities to its Board Level committee, viz, Executive 
Committee, Executive Credit Committee, Audit Committee, Risk Committee and Nominations and Remunerations Committee.  These committees 
discharge their duties based on the relevant charters approved by the Board.

Audit and Risk Committee handle issues related to internal control and internal audit. Risk Committee ensures effectiveness of risk management 
process.  These committees meet periodically. Three Independent Non-Executive Directors, CEO/GM, Head of Risk and Head of Internal Audit 
Department attend the committee meetings.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee has been delegated to handle all the functions related to Board Nominations, their remuneration 
and fixing remunerations of Senior Management staff and other HR related strategic decisions. This committee constitutes Vice Chairman and 
two Directors.

Executive Committee handles all the strategic and operational matters on a regular basis. This committee meets regularly and decisions are 
taken, which are beyond the powers of the Senior Management. Vice Chairman, Nominated Director, General Manager, Chief Financial Officer 
and Head of Risk attend these committee meetings.

Senior Management: 
NBQ has an efficient team of Senior Management officials who are experienced and qualified in discharging key management functions. They are 
delegated with the responsibility of managing the affairs of the bank in a professional manner while managing the internal control, compliance, 
governance with risk management focus.  Board of Directors through their Committees directs the Senior Management Team to apply due 
diligence and caution to protect the interests of the bank and its shareholders.

Management Committee consist of Vice Chairman and Management officials. Charters are prepared for the committee, which clearly define 
the duties and responsibilities of the committees.  Committees include functional heads and invitees based on need and scope of discussion.

Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) is responsible for ascertaining the liquidity position, monitoring and managing assets and liabilities and 
regulatory compliance.  This committee meets every month and chaired by the Vice Chairman/Nominated Director. There are participants from 
the Senior Management, Head of Risk, Treasury and Market risk representatives.

Credit Committee and Credit Sub Committee: 
Credit related committees are framed to approve credit facilities on wholesale and retail based on the approval limits set against each committee.  
Credit Committee constitutes three Directors of the Bank and meetings are attended by CEO/GM, Head of Risk and Senior Manager - Credit 
Approvals. Credit Sub Committee constitutes Vice Chairman/Nominated Director, CEO/GM, HOR and Senior Manager-Credit Approvals.  These 
committees meet regularly based on the business needs of the Bank.

Directors Remuneration: 
Remuneration of the Directors is approved at the Annual General Meeting every year and is paid after the close of the year and it is disclosed in 
the financial statements.

Information Security Framework: 
Bank gives paramount importance to its information security by adhering to various compliance standards mandated by regulatory authorities. 
We ensure the information assurance by being fully compliant to SWIFT Customer Security Program (CSP) and implementing controls based 
on National Electronic Security Authority/ Information Assurance (NESA IA), PCI DSS and other industry best practices. High priority is given to 
implement security advisories / recommendations provided by UAE central bank to ensure organization’s data is safe. Bank is using sophisticated 
tools, updated policies and processes to prevent detect and mitigate threats to information assets.

Internal Control Framework: 
Internal Audit Department (IAD) is the fourth line of defense after Front Offices, Risk Management and Operational Management/Compliance 
functions.
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Management Review (continued)

Internal Auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve the Bank’s operations. It helps 
Bank to accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control and corporate governance.

IAD assesses and makes appropriate recommendations to improve Bank’s governing process for: making strategic and operational decisions, 
overseeing risk management and control, promoting appropriate ethics and values within the Bank, ensuring effective organizational performance 
management and accountability, communicating risk and control information to appropriate areas of the bank and coordinating  the activities of, 
and communicating information among, the board, external and internal auditors, other assurance providers and management.

In addition to above, IAD assesses the design, implementation, and effectiveness of the Bank’s ethics related objectives, and if there is proper 
documentation.

IAD adopted the following steps while performing all types of audits /checks: Risk identification, risk assessment, risk prioritization, response 
planning and risk monitoring.

Two factors are used to assess the exposure to risk: loss frequency or probability and loss severity.

External Auditors: 
Ernst and Young, Middle East were appointed as External Auditors of the NBQ group for the year 2020 at the Annual General Meeting. Appointment 
of external auditor is done in accordance with the Article of Association.

Risk Management: 
In line with best practices, NBQ follows a well-defined organizational structure with Relationship Business Units as the front office, Centralized 
Approval and Credit Risk Units as the Mid-office and Credit Administration and Operations unit as the back-office, all properly segregated. The 
segregated functions and clear reporting lines provide maximum level of risk assurance and management oversight to credit functions. NBQ 
has well laid out credit risk policies, which are followed at all levels. Risk policy manuals are updated on an ongoing basis as per regulatory 
and emerging business requirements. Credit Processing, Assessment and Risk Rating system for wholesale banking is in place to ensure 
standardization and proper risk assessment in the credit appraisal process. The Bank is undertaking steps to upgrade Loan Origination and 
Rating solutions for both wholesale and retail. 

As part of pro-active credit monitoring, tracking of Early Warning Signals and independent physical inspection of projects are undertaken through 
Risk Containment Unit. Management of stressed accounts and non-performing loans is centralized. Exposure monitoring including concentration 
levels at single obligor and sectoral levels are monitored by Portfolio Management Unit. In addition, to ensure Corporate Governance, Risk 
Function reports to Risk Committee, which is a Board Level Committee of Directors.

Market Risk: 
Market risk for the Group refers to the potential losses resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and prices of 
securities because of which the value of its on and/ or off-balance sheet positions are adversely affected. Thus, the volatility in market level of 
interest rates, foreign exchange rates and investment prices expose the Group’s earnings and capital to risk.

Market Risk department of the Group addresses these risks to the Assets and Liability Committee (ALCO) on a regular basis based on stipulated 
norms for Asset Liability Management and Investments. ALCO committee takes corrective measures as per the Group’s internal market risk 
policies and strategic business directions.

Liquidity risk is the prospective risk that the Group will be unable to meet its current or future obligations as and when they fall due. Liquidity 
risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up immediately. To guard 
against this risk, management endeavors to diversify funding sources on a continuous basis and manage assets with liquidity in mind. The day-
to-day funds management is done at Treasury to maintain satisfactory position of liquid assets. Liquidity position is monitored and reported to 
top management on a daily basis. ALCO committee has put in place the policies to manage liquidity risk and monitors gap limits for its structural 
liquidity position regularly. NBQ also monitors Eligible Liquid Assets Ratio (ELAR) and Advances to Stable Resources Ratio (ASRR) in line with 
UAE Central Banks’ regulations for compliance with Basel III requirements.

NBQ’s ability to meet its obligations and fund itself in a crisis scenario is critical and accordingly liquidity stress tests are conducted under different 
scenarios at periodic intervals to assess the impact on liquidity to withstand stress conditions.



13 Annual Report 2020

Management Review (continued)

Basel Implementation: 
NBQ adheres to the UAE Central Bank guidelines required for Basel compliance Implementation including submission of ICAAP report annually 
to Central Bank of the UAE. NBQ is also in compliance with Central Bank of UAE norms for Standardised approach for computation of capital 
adequacy ratios. During the year, CBUAE has adopted Basel III and published enhanced regulatory capital requirements rules vide notification 
4980 and 5416 in December 2020. CBUAE issued Basel III capital regulations and introduced minimum capital requirements at three levels, 
namely common equity Tier 1 (CET1), Additional Tier 1 (AT1) and Total Capital. 

Additional capital buffers Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB) and Counter cyclical Capital Buffer (CCyB) maximum up to 2.5% for each were 
introduced over and above the minimum CET1 requirement of 7%. 

Stress tests are regularly carried to assess credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk in the banking book and equity price risk.  Results reveal 
that NBQ is comfortably placed in line with the risk profile and there is substantial buffer between available capital and regulatory capital to cover 
any unexpected losses from other risks as well.

Operations Risk is defined as “the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external 
events”.  This definition includes all measurable risks except market and credit risk. Operational Risk is inherent in all business activities and 
management of this risk is vital to the strategic objectives of the Bank.
NBQ has in place, a Policy and Comprehensive framework for Operational risk in monitoring, assessing, evaluating, controlling and mitigating 
risks arising out of regular banking operations.  The framework is enhanced by strong compliance, monitoring and governance, which includes 
active participation of Board of Directors, Executive Management and Business Line Management in the risk management process. Bank’s key 
controls and risk management strategies are as follows:-
• Implementation of manuals and controls to prevent, detect and mitigate specific operational controls Bank is exposed to
• Regular Risk and Control Assessment (RCSA) to assess key risks and controls for each business unit / departments
• Incident management processes to identify, assess, record, report and manage actual operational or compliance events that have occurred 

through failed processes or events
• Issue management processes to identify, assess, record, report and manage weaknesses or gaps in controls and or provide information on 

controls to new processes or services in Bank.
• Risks in change process to effectively understand and manage risks from changes to business through automation projects or digital 

initiatives

NBQ has also set up a Disaster Recovery (DR) site to ensure that its regular functioning is not disrupted. DR site is located away from the 
main processing center. Well-documented Business Continuity plan is in place with clearly defined recovery procedures as well as preventive 
measures. Periodic testing of the DR functioning is undertaken for critical applications to test recovery efficacy. Further, emergency evacuation 
at Head Office Building has been tested and certified by concerned Civil Defense Authority.

NBQ maintains adequate insurance coverage, business continuity contingency plans utilising offsite storage and backup systems. 

The regulatory risk capital charge with respect to operational risk is computed on Basic Indicator Approach.

Community Relations: 
NBQ has been consistently participating in social welfare measures in the emirate and taking valuable initiatives from Corporate Social 
Responsibility perspectives.  NBQ also provide valuable support to charitable, educational, and social, sports and other recreational initiatives 
undertaken in the country by Government and socio-cultural organizations from time to time.

Conclusion: 
Board of Directors and Senior Management appreciate and thank our shareholders for their continuous support being provided to the bank, our 
customers for the continued support, trust and loyalty demonstrated by them through their business relationships and finally to the management 
Team and all the staff members for their continued contribution, dedication, loyalty and commitment.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Shareholders of
National Bank of Umm Al-Qaiwain (PSC) 
Umm Al-Qaiwain 
United Arab Emirates

Report on the consolidated financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of National Bank of Umm Al-Qaiwain (PSC) (the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (the “Group”), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “IESBA 
Code”) together with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our 
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section 
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including 
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.

Key audit matter 

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) for loans and advances and 
Islamic financing receivables
Refer to note 6 of the consolidated financial statements.

The balance of loss allowances on loans and advances and Islamic 
financing receivables represents management’s best estimates, at the 
balance sheet date, of the expected credit losses under the expected 
credit loss models (“ECL Models”) as stipulated by International 
Financial Reporting Standard No. 9: Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”).

Management first assesses whether the credit risk of loans and 
advances and Islamic financing receivables to customers has 

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We have obtained an understanding of management’s assessment of 
impairment of loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables, 
the Group’s internal rating model, the Group’s credit impairment 
provision policy and the ECL modelling methodology.

We have performed process walkthroughs to identify the controls over 
ECL process. We have tested design and operational effectiveness of 
the following internal controls relating to the measurement of ECL:

• Review and approval of classification of loans and advances and 
Islamic financing receivables facilities.

• The management is regular monitoring of:
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increased significantly since their initial recognition, and then applies a 
three-stage impairment model to calculate the ECL. 

For loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables classified 
in stage 1 (no significant increase in credit risk) and stage 2 (with 
significant increase in credit risk), loss allowances are assessed 
using the risk parameter modelling approach that incorporates 
key parameters, including probability of default, loss given default, 
exposure at default and discount rates.

For loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables in stage 
3 (default and credit- impaired), loss allowances are assessed by 
estimating the future discounted cash flows from the loans.

Management has also applied significant level of judgement in areas 
noted above in determining the impact of COVID-19 on the allowances 
for credit losses by considering the following:
1. forward looking information, including variables used in 

macroeconomic scenarios and their associated weightings,
2. Stress in specific sectors and industries, and
3. Impact of Government support measures.

We considered ECL for loans and advances and Islamic financing 
receivables as a key audit matter as the determination of ECL involves 
significant management judgement such as categorisation of loans 
and advances and Islamic financing receivables into stages 1,2 or 3, 
assumptions used in the ECL model such as expected future cash 
flows, macro- economic factors etc., and additional overlays to reflect 
current or future external factors. These judgments have a material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

i) staging and ECL for loans and advances and Islamic financing 
receivables.

ii) identification of loans displaying indicators of impairment 
(including more than 90 days past due) under stage 3.

iii) Macroeconomic variables and forecast 
iv) performance of ECL models

• The review and approval of management overlays and the 
governance process around such overlays.

• The independent model validation function.
We have performed the following substantive auditprocedures:
• Reviewed the reasonableness and appropriateness of the 

methodology and assumptions used in various components 
of ECL modelling. This typically included challenging key 
assumptions/judgements relating to significant increase in credit 
risk, definition of default, probability of default, loss given default, 
recovery rates and discount rate.

• For selected samples, we performed procedures to determine 
whether significant increase in credit risk have been correctly 
identified.

• For forward-looking measurements, reviewed management’s 
selection of economic indicators, scenarios and application of 
weightings; assessed the reasonableness of the prediction of 
economic indicators and performed sensitivity analysis.

• We have reviewed the impact on expected credit losses on 
account of COVID 19 with specific focus on reassessment of 
macroeconomic weights, impact of financial stress on various 
industries and the consideration of Government support 
measures.

• For selected samples, we examined key data inputs into the ECL 
models.

• We re-performed key elements of the ECL calculations and 
evaluated the model performance results for accuracy.

• We assessed the appropriateness of disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements against the requirements of 
IFRS.

Key audit matters (continued)

Impairment of loans and advances as per IFRS 9 (continued)

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included in the Bank’s 2020 Annual Report, 
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the Chairman’s report, prior to the date of our 
auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after the date of our auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above when 
it becomes available and, and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed 
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on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs and in 
compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bank’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that for the year ended 31 December 2020:

• the Group has maintained proper books of account;
• we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes
• of our audit;
• the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the applicable provisions of the Bank’s 

Memorandum and Articles of Association and the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015;
• the financial information included in the Directors’ report is consistent with the books of account and records of the Group;
• investments in shares and stocks during the year ended 31 December 2020 are disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements;
• note 27 reflects the disclosures relating to related party transactions and the terms under which they were conducted;
• based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Bank 

has contravened, during the financial year ended 31 December 2020, any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 
2015 or of its Memorandum and Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its consolidated financial position as at 
31 December 2020; and

• note 38 reflects the social contributions made during the year.

Further, as required by the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, we report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we 
considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.

For Ernst & Young
Signed by:
Ashraf Abu Sharkh Partner
Registration No: 690
25 February 2021
Sharjah, United Arab Emirates 
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Consolidated statement of financial position
At 31 December 2020

Assets
Cash and balances with the U.A.E. Central Bank
Due from other banks
Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables
Investment securities
Customers’ acceptances
Investment in an associate
Property and equipment
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customer deposits
Customers’ acceptances
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Statutory reserve
General reserve
Impairment reserve -general
Cumulative change in fair values
Retained earnings

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The attached notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor’s report on consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 14 - 17. 

Rashid Bin Saud Al Mualla
Chairman

Nasser Bin Rashid Al Moalla
Vice Chairman and 
Chairman of Executive Committee

R Ramchandra Iyer
General Manager

4
5
6
7

8
9

10

11
12

13

14
15

-
16

Notes 2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

1,510,911
2,947,129
7,639,656

943,354
166,207

990
86,362

251,435

13,546,044
                    

25
8,224,858

166,207
457,532

8,848,622
                    

1,848,000
1,019,266

6,440
-

135,632
1,688,084

                    
4,697,422

13,546,044

1,729,448
2,790,762
8,263,269
 1,101,017 

217,772
1,500

 62,916 
130,888

                    
14,297,572

                    

423 
9,035,108  
 217,772 
274,273

                    
9,527,576

                    

1,848,000
1,019,266

6,440
16,385

211,976
1,667,929

4,769,996

14,297,572
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Interest income

Income from Islamic financing products

Total interest income and income from 
Islamic financing products

Interest expense

Distribution to depositors – Islamic products

Net interest income and income from Islamic
products net of distribution to depositors

Net fees and commission income

Other operating income

Gross income

Operating expenses 

Investment gains

Operating income

Share of (loss)/profits from an associate

Profit for the year before impairment

Net impairment losses 

Profit for the year 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED)

18

18

19

20

21

22

8

24

25

Notes 2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

389,161

28,234

417,395
                    

(87,090)

(519)
                    

329,786

73,743

29,841
                    

433,370

(149,260)

40,104

324,214

(510)
                    

323,704
                    

(111,932)
                    

211,772
                    

0.11

575,956

32,600
                    

608,556
                    

(104,687)

(2,268)
                    

501,601

78,261

29,555
                    

609,417

(142,223)

38,039
                    

505,233

147
                    

505,380
                    

(80,988)
                    

424,392
                    

0.23

Consolidated statement of 
income for the year ended 
31 December 2020

The attached notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor’s report on consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 14 - 17. 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Profit for the year      

Other comprehensive income:
IItems that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Net fair value gain on investment securities carried 
at FVTOCI - equity

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

211,772
                    

(81,068)

(81,068)
                    

130,704

424,392
                    

85,529

85,529
                    

509,921

The attached notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor’s report on consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 14 - 17. 

7

Note
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year 
ended 31 December 2020

Balance at 31 December 2018

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income 
for the year

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

Excess provision under CBUAE 
requirement over IFRS 9 requirement
Dividends paid (Note 26)

Balance at 31 December 2019

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive (loss)/income 
for the year

Excess provision under CBUAE 
requirement over IFRS 9 requirement
Dividends paid (Note 26)
Other movements of FVTOCI equity 
investments

Balance at 31 December 2020

     Share
   capital
AED’000

Statutory
reserve

AED’000

Investments 
Cumulative 

change in 
fair values

AED’000

     
Retained

  earnings
AED’000

Total 
AED’000

General
reserve

AED’000

Impairment 
reserve

AED’000

1,848,000
                    

-

-
                    

-
                    

-
-

                    
 1,848,000 

                    
-
-

                    

-
                    

-
-

-
                    

1,848,000

1,019,266
                    

-

-
                    

-
                    

-
-

                    
1,019,266

                    
-
-

                    

-
                    

-
-

-
                    

1,019,266

6,440
                    

-

-
                    

-
                    

-
-

                    
6,440

                    
-
-

                    

-
                    

-
-

-
                    

6,440

126,447
                    

-

85,529
                    

85,529
                    

-
-

 211,976 

-
(81,068)

                    

(81,068)
                    

-
-

4,724

135,632

1,463,200
                    

424,392

-

424,392
                    

(16,385)
(203,278)

1,667,929

211,772
-

                    

211,772
                    

16,385
(203,278)

(4,724)
                    

1,688,084

-
                    

-

-
                    

-
                    

16,385
-

                    
16,385

                    
-
-

                    

-
                    

16,385
-

-
                    

-

4,463,353
                    

424,392

85,529
                    

509,921
                    

-
(203,278)

                    
 4,769,996

211,772
(81,068)

                    

130,704
                    

-
(203,278)

-
                    

4,697,422

The attached notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor’s report on consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 14 - 17. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
  Provision for expected credit losses
  Depreciation of property and equipment
  Provision for Impairment of inventory
  Provision for employee end of service benefits
  Decrease in fair value of investment in securities
  Discount amortised on investment securities 
  Dividend income
  Loss on disposal of property and equipment
  Share of loss/(profit) from an associate

Operating cash flows before changes in operating assets 
and liabilities 

(Increase)/Decrease in certificate of deposits with original maturity 
greater than 3 months
Decrease/(Increase) in statutory deposit with U.A.E. Central Bank
Payment of employee end of service benefits
Decrease in loans and advances
(Increase) / Decrease in other assets
(Decrease) in customers’ deposits
Increase in other liabilities  

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from maturity and disposal of investment securities
Dividend received from investment securities
Dividend received from investment in an associate

Net cash generated from investing activity

Cash flows from financing activity
Dividend paid

Net cash used in financing activities 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

211,772

103,678
10,358
8,254
2,654
3,069

(29)
(42,929)

119
510

             

       
297,456

(125,000)
225,259
(2,275)

524,833
(156,650)
(810,250)

179,184
                    

132,557

(6,168)
94

(165,285)
238,746
42,929

-
                    

110,316
                    

(203,278)
                    

(203,278)
                    

39,595

3,633,059
                    

3,672,654

424,392

77,494
7,478
3,494
1,609
3,438

(38)
(41,439)

75
(147)

                    

476,356

220,000
(65,405)

(2,116)
578,383

4,085
(722,834)

65,884
                    

554,353

(3,551)
757

-
117,537
41,439

272
                    

156,454
                    

(203,278)
                    

(203,278)
                    

507,529

3,125,530
                    

3,633,059

The attached notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditor’s report on consolidated financial statements is set out on pages 14 - 17. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

1. General information 

National Bank of Umm Al-Qaiwain (PSC) (the “Bank”) is a Public Shareholding Company incorporated in the Emirate of 
Umm Al-Qaiwain (“UAQ”) in the United Arab Emirates (“U.A.E.”) by Amiri Decree Number (1) on January 5, 1982, issued by 
His Highness, the Ruler of Umm Al-Qaiwain, and commenced its operations with effect from August 1, 1982. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 comprise the Bank and its subsidiary (together 
referred to as ‘the Group’). 

The Group comprises National Bank of Umm Al-Qaiwain (PSC), Umm Al-Qaiwain, and Twin Towns Marketing Management 
(L.L.C.-SO), Dubai (see Note 3.3). The address of the Bank’s registered Head Office is P.O. Box 800, Umm Al-Qaiwain, 
United Arab Emirates.

The Group is engaged in providing retail and corporate banking services through a network of 12 branches in U.A.E.

The Group carries out Islamic banking operations through Islamic banking window established in 2005 across all its branch 
network.

Federal Decree-Law No. 26 of 2020 which amends certain provisions of Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 on Commercial 
Companies was issued on 27 September 2020 and the amendments came into effect on 2 January 2021. The Group is in 
the process of reviewing the new provisions and will apply the requirements thereof no later than one year from the date on 
which the amendments came into effect.

2. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)

2.1 Standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the Group’s accounting period beginning on  
      01 January 2020

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material (effective date: 01 January 2020)  
   
In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting 
Polices, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to align the definition of ‘material’ across the standards and to clarify 
certain aspects of the definition. The new definition states that, ‘Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it 
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make 
on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.’
The amendments to the definition of material do not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

Amendment to IFRS 9, Financial instruments, on prepayment features with negative compensation (effective 1 
January 2020)

The IASB has issued a narrow-scope amendment to IFRS 9 to enable entities to measure at amortized cost some pre-
payable financial assets with negative compensation. The assets affected, that include some loans and debt securities, 
would otherwise have been measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 
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Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ 
(the ‘SPPI’ criterion) and the instrument is held within the appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments 
to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of the event or circumstance that causes the 
early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early 
termination of the contract.

Early termination can result from a contractual term or from an event outside the control of the parties to the contract, such 
as a change in law or regulation leading to the early termination of the contract. Where the prepayment is made at current 
fair value or at an amount that includes the fair value of the cost to terminate an associated hedging instruments, the Group 
assesses the specific contractual cash flows for the relevant debt instruments in order to determine whether they meet the 
SPPI criterion. These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 16 - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (effective for reporting periods on or after 1 June 
2020)

In May 2020, the IASB proposed an amendment to IFRS 16 that allows for a practical expedient to not treat a change in 
lease payments as lease modification. The amendment applies to lessee accounting only. As a lessee, the Group has 
obtained few lease concessions due to Covid-19. As such, this amendment will not have material impact on the financial 
statements of the Group.

2.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective for the Group’s accounting period 
beginning on 01 January 2020 and not early adopted

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these new and amended 
standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.

Interbank Offer Rate (IBOR) reform disclosure: (effective date: 01 January 2020)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 include a number of reliefs, which apply to all hedging 
relationships that are directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging relationship is affected if the reform 
gives rise to uncertainties about the timing and / or amount of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging 
instrument. As a result of interest rate benchmark reform, there may be uncertainties about the timing and / or amount of 
benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument during the period before the replacement of an 
existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free interest rate (an “RFR”). This may lead to uncertainty whether a 
forecast transaction is highly probable and whether prospectively the hedging relationship is expected to be highly effective.

The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty 
before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative RFR. The effective date of the amendments 
is for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with early application permitted. The requirements must be 
applied retrospectively. However, any hedge relationships that have previously been de-designated cannot be reinstated 
upon application, nor can any hedge relationships be designated with the benefit of hindsight. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
2. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (Continued)
Amendment to IFRS 9, Financial instruments, on prepayment features with negative compensation (effective 1 
January 2020) (continued)
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With phase one completed, the IASB is now shifting its focus to consider those issues that could affect financial reporting 
when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an RFR. This is referred to as phase two of the IASB’s project. 
In August 2020, the IASB issued IBOR reform - Phase 2, which amends IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts and 
IFRS 16 Leases.

IBOR Reform Phase 2 provides temporary reliefs that allow the Bank’s hedging relationships to continue upon the replacement 
of an existing interest rate benchmark with an RFR. The reliefs require the Bank to amend hedge designations and hedge 
documentation. This includes redefining the hedged risk to reference an RFR, redefining the description of the hedging 
instrument and / or the hedged item to reference the RFR and amending the method for assessing hedge effectiveness. 
Updates to the hedging documentation must be made by the end of the reporting period in which a replacement takes 
place. For the retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness, the Bank may elect on a hedge by hedge basis to reset 
the cumulative fair value change to zero. The Bank may designate an interest rate as a non-contractually specified, hedged 
risk component of changes in the fair value or cash flows of a hedged item, provided the interest rate risk component is 
separately identifiable. The Group has assessed the impact of Phase 1 and Phase 2 and concluded that it is not material to 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities (effective date: 
1 January 2022)

As part of its 2018-2020 Annual Improvements to IFRS standards process, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 9. The 
amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability 
are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or received 
between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. 
An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual 
reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier adoption permitted. 
The group will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of 
the annual period in which it will first apply the amendment and does not expect this will result in a material impact on its 
financial statements.

There are no other applicable new standards and amendments to the published standards or IFRS IC interpretations that 
have been issued but are not effective for the first time for the Group’s financial year beginning on 01 January 2020 that 
would be expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
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3. Significant accounting policies

3.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), interpretations issued by International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) and applicable requirements of laws of the United Arab Emirates. 

Along with these consolidated financial statements, the Group has presented Basel III disclosures in accordance with the 
guidelines issued by the UAE Central Bank. The adoption of Basel III guidelines has impacted the type and amount of 
disclosures made in these consolidated financial statements but has no impact on the reported profits or financial position 
of the Group. In accordance with the requirements of Basel III, the Group has provided full comparative information.

3.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain 
financial instruments. For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of the 
Group are expressed in Arab Emirates Dirhams (AED) (in thousands, except where noted), which is the functional currency 
of the Group, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements. The principal accounting policies 
adopted are set out below.

The Group presents its consolidated statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity, with a distinction based on 
expectations regarding recovery or settlement within twelve months after the reporting date (current) and more than twelve 
months after the reporting date (non-current) presented in the notes. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significant volatility in the financial markets worldwide. Numerous governments 
including UAE have announced measures to provide both financial and non-financial assistance to the affected entities. The 
pandemic affects the assumptions and estimation uncertainty associated with the measurement of assets and liabilities with 
details covered in note 31 of these consolidated financial statements. 

3.3 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements of National Bank of Umm Al-Qaiwain (PSC) and Subsidiary (the “Group”) incorporate 
the financial statements of the Bank and entity controlled by the Bank (its Subsidiary). 

Control is achieved when the Bank:
• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Bank reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting 
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Bank 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Bank’s voting rights in an investee are 
sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Bank’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
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• potential voting rights held by the Bank, other vote holders or other parties;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Bank has, or does not have, the current ability to direct 

the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ 
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Bank loses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income from the date the Bank gains control 
until the date when the Bank ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Bank and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Bank and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiary to bring their accounting policies into line 
with the Group’s accounting policies. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating 
to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.4 Investment in an associate 

An associate is an entity over which the Bank has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate is incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Bank’s share of the profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Bank’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Bank’s 
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Bank’s net investment 
in the associate), the Bank discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the 
extent that the Bank has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an 
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of 

Subsidiary:

Details of the Bank’s subsidiary as at 31 December 2020 is as follows:

Twin Towns Marketing 
Management (L.L.C.-SO)

100% U.A.E. Marketing 
management 

Name of
subsidiary

Proportion 
of ownership
interest 

Country of
Incorporation

Principal
activity
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acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 
Bank’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, 
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which the investment 
is acquired.

The requirements of IFRS are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to 
the Bank’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) 
is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable 
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised 
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with 
IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

3.5 Financial Instruments 

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified and measured: at amortised cost, Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive 
Income (FVTOCI) or Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL). A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets 
both the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVTOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 

selling financial assets; and
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements 
to be measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial liabilities

In both the current period and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, except for:
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• Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: the classification is applied to derivatives and other financial 
liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains and losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss are presented partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of change in fair value of 
the financial liability that is attributable to the changes in credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount 
that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially in profit or loss (the 
remaining amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or 
enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains or losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the 
liability are also presented in the profit or loss;

• Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition or when the 
continuing involvement approach applies. When the transfer of financial assets did not qualify for derecognition, a 
financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer; and

• Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires).

Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because 
this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered 
includes:

• The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, 
whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest 
rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets 
or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;
• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) 

and how those risks are managed;
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• how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets 
managed or the contractual cash flows collected;

• the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about 
future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall 
assessment of how the Group’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows 
are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 
measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash 
flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 
’Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount 
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative 
costs), as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the 
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that 
could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.

In making the assessment, the Group considers:
• contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
• leverage features;
• prepayment and extension terms;
• terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements); and
• features that modify consideration of the time value of money - e.g. periodical reset of interest rate.

Reclassifications

If the business model under which the Group holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected are reclassified. 
The classification and measurement requirements related to the new category apply prospectively from the first day of the 
first reporting period following the change in business model that results in reclassifying the Group’s financial assets. During 
the current period and previous accounting period, there was no change in the business model under which the Group holds 
financial assets and therefore no reclassifications were made. 

Derecognition

Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as FVTOCI is not 
recognised in profit or loss account on derecognition of such securities.
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Measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

Investment securities

The investment securities’ caption in the consolidated statement of financial position includes:
• Quoted debt instruments measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at fair value plus incremental 

direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method;
• Equity investment securities measured at FVTPL or designated as at FVTPL; these are at fair value with changes 

recognised immediately in profit or loss; and
• Equity securities designated as at FVTOCI.

The Group elects to present in OCI changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity instruments that are not held 
for trading. The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis on initial recognition and is irrevocable.

Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairment is recognised in 
profit or loss. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the 
investment, in which case they are recognised in OCI. Cumulative gains and losses recognised in OCI are transferred to 
retained earnings on disposal of an investment.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost unless designated at FVTPL. 

Impairment

Measurement of ECL

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following financial instruments that are 
not measured at FVTPL:
• Deposits and balances and due from banks;
• Debt investment securities carried at amortised cost;
• Loans and advances to customers;
• Customer acceptances and other financial assets;
• Loan commitments; and
• Financial guarantees and contracts  
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No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.

With the exception of purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial assets, ECLs are required to be measured 
through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

• 12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or

• full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial instrument, 
(referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an amount equal 
to the 12-month ECL. 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the present value 
of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group under the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, discounted at the asset’s effective interest rate.

• for undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the difference between the present value of the difference between the 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the commitment draws down the loan and the cash 
flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down; and

• for financial guarantee contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments to reimburse the holder 
of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or 
any other party.

The Group measures ECL on an individual basis (for Wholesale portfolio), or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that 
share similar economic risk characteristics (for Retail portfolio). The measurement of the loss allowance is based on the 
present value of the asset’s expected cash flows using the asset’s original effective interest rate, regardless of whether it is 
measured on an individual basis or a collective basis.

Expected life 

For instruments in Stage 2 or Stage 3, loss allowances reflect expected credit losses over the expected remaining lifetime 
of the instrument. For most instruments, the expected life is limited to the remaining contractual life. An exemption is 
provided for certain instruments with the following characteristics: (a) the instrument includes both a loan and undrawn 
commitment component;(b) the contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment is present; 
and (c) the exposure to credit losses is not limited to the contractual notice period. For products in scope of this exemption, 
the expected life may exceed the remaining contractual life and is the period over which our exposure to credit losses is not 
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mitigated by our normal credit risk management actions. This period varies by product and risk category and is estimated 
based on our historical experience with similar exposures and consideration of credit risk management actions taken as 
part of our regular credit review cycle. Products in scope of this exemption include credit cards, overdraft balances and 
certain revolving lines of credit. Determining the instruments in scope for this exemption and estimating the appropriate 
remaining life based on our historical experience and credit risk mitigation practices requires significant judgment.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets. Evidence 
of credit-impairment includes observable data about the following events:
• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
• a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or
• the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event-instead, the combined effect of several events may have caused 
financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Group assesses whether debt instruments that are financial assets 
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are credit-impaired at each reporting date. To assess if sovereign and corporate 
debt instruments are credit impaired, the Group considers factors such as timing of coupon payments, credit ratings and 
the ability of the borrower to raise funding.

A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a deterioration in the borrower’s 
financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result of granting the concession the risk of not receiving the 
contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. For financial assets where 
concessions are contemplated but not granted the asset is deemed credit impaired when there is observable evidence of 
credit-impairment including meeting the definition of default. The definition of default (see below) includes unlikeliness to 
pay indicators and a backstop if amounts are overdue for 90 days or more. However, the cases where the impairment is not 
recognised for assets beyond 90 days overdue are supported by reasonable information.

Significant increase in credit risk

The Group monitors all financial assets, issued financial commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are subject to 
the impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime ECL 
rather than 12-month ECL. The Group’s accounting policy is not to use the practical expedient that financial assets with 
‘low’ credit risk at the reporting date are deemed not to have had a significant increase in credit risk. As a result the Group 
monitors all financial assets, issued financial commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are subject to impairment 
for significant increase in credit risk.

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date based on the remaining maturity of 
the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was anticipated for the remaining maturity at the current reporting date 
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when the financial instrument was first recognised. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information 
that is available without undue cost or effort, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert credit assessment 
including forward-looking information. 

Multiple economic scenarios form the basis of determining the probability of default at initial recognition and at subsequent 
reporting dates. Different economic scenarios will lead to a different probability of default. It is the weighting of these 
different scenarios that forms the basis of a weighted average probability of default that is used to determine whether credit 
risk has significantly increased.

For corporate financing, forward-looking information includes the future prospects of the macroeconomic indicators obtained 
from regulatory guidelines, economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies and other similar organisations, 
as well as consideration of various internal and external sources of actual and forecast economic information. For retail, 
financing forward looking information includes the same economic forecasts as corporate financing with additional forecasts 
of local economic indicators.

The Group allocates its counterparties to a relevant internal credit risk grade depending on their credit quality. The Group 
considers the credit risk upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in it on an ongoing 
basis throughout each reporting period. It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information. 
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

• internal risk grade;
• external credit rating (as far as available);
• actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 

cause a significant change to the customer’s ability to meet its obligations;
• actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the customer;
• significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the customer, including changes in the payment 

status of customers in the group and changes in the operating results of the customer; and
• Macroeconomic information: in its models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward looking information as 

economic inputs along with various transformations of the same. The inputs and models used for calculating expected 
credit losses may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the financial statements. To reflect 
this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are made as temporary adjustments using expert credit judgement.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a customer is more than 30 days past 
due in making a contractual payment. 

The qualitative factors that indicate significant increase in credit risk are reflected in Customer PDs models on a timely 
basis.

However, the Group still considers separately some qualitative factors to assess if credit risk has increased significantly. For 
corporate financing there is particular focus on assets that are included on a ‘watch list’ given an exposure is on a watch list 
once there is a concern that the creditworthiness of the specific counterparty has deteriorated.
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Stage

1 » 2

1 » 3
2 » 3

Corporate and Institutional 
Banking portfolio

• Rating downgrade as per 
internally defined criteria 
from the rating assigned at 
the initial recognition

• Restructured 
• DPD 31-90 days

• Credit impaired portfolio
• DPD greater than 90 days

Retail portfolio

• Restructured /Rescheduled   
portfolio

• DPD 30-89 days (inclusive)

• Credit impaired portfolio
• DPD ≥ 90 days

Due from banks and Investments 
portfolio

• Rating downgrade as per 
internally defined criteria from 
the rating assigned at the initial 
recognition

• Credit rating of Caa1 to Caa3 
to be classified as Stage 2  

• Credit rating of C and below to 
be classified as Stage 3

The Stage assessment indicators, as prescribed by the IFRS 9 standards are detailed below. These are indicative and 
may be considered by the Bank based on maturity of data availability and assessment process.

1. Change in internal credit spread (or risk premium)
2. Actual or expected change in Internal Credit Rating 
3. Actual or expected significant change in operating results of borrower
4. Regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the borrower
5. Quality of guarantee
6. Expected change in loan documentation (covenant waiver, collateral top-up, payment holiday etc.)
7. Changes in bank’s credit management approach (or appetite) in relation to the financial instrument
8. Significant difference in rates or terms of newly issued similar contracts
9. Actual or expected change in External Credit Rating
10. Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions
11. Significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower
12. Reductions in financial support from parent entity or credit enhancement quality
13. Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour or borrower or group

For retail financing, when an asset becomes 30 days past due, the Group considers that a significant increase in 
credit risk has occurred and the asset is in stage 2 of the impairment model, i.e. the loss allowance is measured as 
the lifetime ECL. 
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Curing Criteria - upward ECL stage movement

The curing criteria is in line with UAE Central Bank IFRS 9 guidelines and is considered based on the combination of the 
following qualitative factors: 

• DPD movement 
• Probationary period
• Notches of ratings upward movement  

From stage 2 (Lifetime ECL) to stage 1 (12-month ECL)

• Where there is an evidence of a significant reduction in credit risk, financial instruments are monitored for a 
probationary period of 12 months to confirm if the risk of default has decreased sufficiently before upgrading such 
exposures from stage 2 to stage 1.

• DPD shall be ≤ 30 days over the last 12 month period; and / or
• Upward movement of risk ratings is reflected as per internally defined criteria. 

From stage 3 (Lifetime ECL – credit impaired) to stage 2 (Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired)

• An exposure cannot be upgraded from Stage 3 to 1 directly and should be upgraded to Stage 2 after observing a 
cooling period of 12 months under Stage 3 and thereafter follow the probation period of 12 months in stage 2 before 
upgrading to Stage 1. So, an account will have 24 months of cooling period from stage 3 to 1.

• Movement from Stage 3 to Stage 2 or Stage 1 is assessed based on reversal of the original conditions that had led 
to migration to Stage 3, and such improved performance conditions sustaining for the ‘Cure Period’ of 12 months.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets

POCI financial assets are treated differently because the asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. For these 
assets, the Group recognises all changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition as a loss allowance with any changes 
recognised in profit or loss. A favourable change for such assets creates an impairment gain.

Restructured or Modified financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due 
to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be derecognized 
and ECL are measured as follows:

• If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising 
from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.

• If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new 
asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount 
is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset. The cash shortfalls are discounted 
from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing 
financial asset.
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Write-offs

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in 
a repayment plan with the Group. 

If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition 
to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Where loans or receivables have been written 
off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are 
made, these are recognised in profit or loss as “Other income”. 

Financial guarantee contracts 

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument. 

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as 
at FVTPL and not arising from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of: 

• the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and 
• the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with 

the Group’s revenue recognition policies. 

Financial guarantee contracts not designated at FVTPL are presented as provisions in the consolidated statement of 
financial position and the remeasurement is presented in other revenue. 

The Group has not designated any financial guarantee contracts as at FVTPL.

3.6 Due from other banks 

Amounts due from other banks are initially recognized at fair value and measured subsequently at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Impairment of amounts due from other banks is assessed as outlined in the accounting 
policy on financial instruments in note 3.5 above. 

3.7 Property and equipment 

Capital work in progress is stated at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets, on the same 
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. Property and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to 
write off the cost of assets to their estimated residual values over their expected useful economic lives as follows:
     Years       Years 
Buildings    20
Computer and equipment  1 - 5
Furniture and fixtures   5
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Land is not depreciated, as it is deemed to have an infinite life.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are 
taken into account in determining operating profit. Repairs and renewals are charged to the consolidated statement of 
income when the expenditure is incurred. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount, being the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. 

3.8 Inventory

Inventory represents property acquired in settlement of debt, stated at lower of cost or net realisable value. Directly 
attributable cost incurred in the acquisition of inventory is included as part of the cost of the asset. Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, based on market prices at the reporting date.

3.9 Impairment of tangible assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, 
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) 
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
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3.10 Due to other banks and customer deposits  

Due to banks and customer deposits are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequently, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except where the Group chooses 
to carry the liabilities at fair value through the consolidated statement of income. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on settlement.

3.11 Employees’ end of service benefits

Pension contributions are made in respect of U.A.E. nationals to the U.A.E. General Pension and Social Security 
Authority in accordance with the U.A.E. Federal Law No (7), 1999 for Pension and Social Security. A provision is made for 
the full amount of end of service benefits due to the non-U.A.E. nationals in accordance with the U.A.E. Labour Law, for 
their periods of service up to the reporting date.  This provision is included in other liabilities.

Management measures the employees’ end of service benefits payable under the U.A.E. Labour law. Under this method 
an assessment is made of employee’s expected service life with the Group and the expected basic salary at the date of 
leaving the service.  

3.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as it is probable that the Group 
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation. When a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligations, its amount is the present value of those cash flows (when 
the effect of the time value of money is material.

When some of all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably. 

3.13 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred, and are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost using effective interest rate method. Any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the 
redemption value is recognised in the consolidated statement of income over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method.

3.14 Foreign currencies 

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured in AED which is the functional 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. Foreign currency transactions are translated 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
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into AED at the rate ruling on the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated into AED at the rates ruling at the reporting date. Any resultant gains or losses are accounted for in the 
consolidated statement of income.

3.15 Derivative instruments

Derivative instruments, comprising forward foreign exchange contracts, are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
on which a derivative contract is entered. All forward foreign exchange contracts are carried as assets when fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of the forward foreign exchange contracts 
are included in foreign exchange trading income in the consolidated statement of income.

3.16 Interest income and expense 

Interest income and expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of income for all financial instruments 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments earned or paid on a 
financial asset or a liability through its expected life or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset or financial liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial asset 
and liability and is not revised subsequently unless re-priced.

When calculating effective interest rates, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instruments excluding future credit losses. The calculation includes all amounts paid or received by the Group that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, including transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, 
interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 
measuring the impairment loss.

Income from Islamic financing products
The Group’s policy for recognition of income from Islamic financing products is described in Note 3.22.

3.17 Fees and commission income

The Group earns fee income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee income can be divided 
principally into the following two categories:
• Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time; and
• Fee income earned from providing transaction services.

The Group earns commission income from issue of documentary credits and letters of guarantee. The commission 
income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period for which the documentary credits and guarantees are 
issued. Fee income on issue of letters of credit and guarantees is recognised when the underlying transaction is affected.

Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, placement fees and syndication fees, are 
recognised as the related services are performed.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
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3.18 Rental and dividend income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Dividend income is recognised 
when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established.

3.19 Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

3.20 Acceptances

Acceptances are recognised as a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position with a contractual 
right of reimbursement from the customer as a financial asset. Therefore, commitments in respect of acceptances have 
been accounted for as financial assets and financial liabilities.

3.21 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, money in current and 
call accounts and placements with original maturity of less than three months, excluding the minimum reserve deposits 
required to be maintained with the U.A.E. Central Bank.

3.22 Islamic financing products

In addition to conventional banking products, the Group offers its customers certain non-interest based banking products, 
which are approved by its Sharia’a Supervisory Board.

All Islamic banking products are accounted for in conformity with the accounting policies described below:

Definitions

The following terms are used in Islamic financing:

Murabaha
A sales agreement whereby the Group sells to a customer a commodity or an asset, which the Group has purchased and 
acquired and the customer will pay the commodity price on an instalment basis over a specific period. The selling price 
comprises the cost of the commodity and an agreed profit margin.

Mudaraba
A profit sharing agreement between the Group and the customer whereby the customer provides the funds and the Group 
invests the funds in a specific enterprises or activity and any profits generated are distributed accordingly to the terms and 
conditions of the profit sharing agreement. The customer bears the loss in case of default, negligence or violation of any 
of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
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Wakala (Investment agency)
An agreement whereby the customer appoints the Group to invest a certain sum of money according to the terms and 
conditions of the Wakala in return for a certain fee and any profit exceeding the expected profit. The Group will bear any 
loss as a result of the misconduct, negligence or violation of the terms and conditions of the Wakala.

Accounting policy
Islamic financing products are measured at amortised cost, using the effective profit method, less any amounts written off, 
allowance for doubtful accounts and unearned income, if any. 

The effective profit rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flow through the expected life of the 
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Allowance for impairment is made against Islamic financing and investing products when their recovery is in doubt taking 
into consideration IFRS requirements (as explained in Note 3.5). Islamic financing and investing products are written off 
only when all possible course of action to achieve recovery have proven unsuccessful.

Revenue recognition policy

Income from Islamic financing and investing assets are recognised in the consolidated statement of income using the 
effective profit method.

Murabaha
Murabaha income is recognised on effective profit rate basis over the period of the contract based on the principal 
amounts outstanding. 

Islamic customers’ deposits and distributions to depositors

Islamic customers’ deposits are initially measured at fair value which is normally consideration received net of directly 
attributable transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective profit 
method.

Distributions to depositors (Islamic products) represents the share of income allocated to depositors of the Group. The 
distributions are calculated, allocated and distributed according to the Islamic Banking unit’s standard procedures and are 
approved by the Islamic Banking unit’s Sharia’a Supervisory Board.

3.23 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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Business model assessment
Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI) and the business model test. The Group determines the business model at a level that reflects how 
groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes 
judgment reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance 
measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and how these are managed and how the managers of 
the assets are compensated. The Group monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and 
whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part 
of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held 
continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a 
prospective change to the classification of those assets. 

Significant increase of credit risk 
ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL assets for stage 2 or 
stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has 
significantly increased, the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-
looking information. A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a customer is more than 30 days past due in making 
a contractual payment.

Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics
When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 
characteristics (e.g. product type). The Group monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on an 
ongoing basis to assess whether they continue to be similar. This is required in order to ensure that should credit risk 
characteristics change there is appropriate re-segmentation of the assets. This may result in new portfolios being created 
or assets moving to an existing portfolio that better reflects the similar credit risk characteristics of that group of assets. 
Re-segmentation of portfolios and movement between portfolios is more common when there is a significant increase in 
credit risk (or when that significant increase reverses) and so assets move from 12-month to lifetime ECLs, or vice versa, 
but it can also occur within portfolios that continue to be measured on the same basis of 12-month or lifetime ECLs but 
the amount of ECL changes because the credit risk of the portfolios differ.

Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product/market 
and determining the forward looking information relevant to each scenario. 
When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward looking information, which is based on 
assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other. 
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Probability of default
PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the 
calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions. 

Loss Given Default
LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due 
and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit 
enhancements.

Models and assumptions used
The Group uses various models and assumptions in measuring fair value of financial assets as well as in estimating ECL. 
Judgement is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type of asset, as well as for determining the 
assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key drivers of credit risk. The level of estimation 
uncertainty has increased since 31 December 2019 as a result of the economic disruption and consequential impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. This includes significant judgements relating to:
• The selection and weighting of macro-economic scenarios; 
• The effect of government and other support measures put in place to mitigate the negative economic impact; 
• The uncertainty over the duration and severity of the effect of the pandemic as well as the timing and duration of the 

recovery;
• Determination of the impact of the macro-economic scenarios on ECL and whether the required parameters can be 

modelled given the unavailability of historical information for a similar event; and 
• Identification and assessment of significant increases in credit risk and impairment especially for customers who have 

received support under the various government and bank support schemes.
The Group incorporated the latest available macroeconomic inputs into the ECL model to reflect the change in the 
macroeconomic forecast with details covered in notes (31) of these consolidated financial statements. 

3.24 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 
components. The operating results of each operating segment are reviewed regularly by the Executive Committee 
of the Bank (referred to as the “ExCo”) to make decisions about resources allocated to each segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

3.25 Lease

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Group applies a single 
recognition and measurement approach for all leases that it is the lessee, except for short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the 
right to use the underlying assets.
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Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less 
any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the 
end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option 
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term 
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.  Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate 
are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease 
commencement date. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of 
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is re-measured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the 
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of property and equipment (i.e. 
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of property and equipment that are 
considered of low value. Payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for an additional term. The Group applies 
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant 
factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the Group 
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its 
ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g. a change in business strategy).   
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4. Cash and balances with the U.A.E. Central Bank

Balances with the U.A.E. Central Bank:
Current account 
Certificates of deposits* 
Statutory deposits  

Cash in hand

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

12,912
1,085,000

311,914
1,409,826

101,085
1,510,911

487,016
600,000
537,173

1,624,189
105,259

1,729,448

The statutory deposit with the U.A.E. Central Bank is not available to finance the day to day operations of the 
Group.

*Certificates of deposit with original maturity over three months amounted to AED 475 million (31 December 
2019: AED 350 million) and certificate of deposits included overnight deposit (ODF) amounting to AED 610 
million (31 December 2019: Nil).

5. Due from other banks

Term deposits
Demand deposits 
Loans to financial institutions

Total due from other banks
Provision for expected credit loss 

Net due from other banks

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2,756,204
27,193

165,285
                   

2,948,682
(1,553)

                   
2,947,129

 2,766,439 
 24,768 

-
                   

2,791,207
(445)

                   
2,790,762



47 Annual Report 2020

Gross amounts due from other banks by   geographical area
Within U.A.E.
Within GCC
Other countries

Gross amounts due from other banks by currency 
AED
USD
SAR
Others

AA−
A+
A
A−
BBB+
BBB
BBB− and below

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2,921,489
1,037

26,156
2,948,682

2,766,439
577

24,191
2,791,207

2,145,000
783,433

229
20,020

2,948,682

2,725,000
45,637

175
20,395

2,791,207

208,231
1,618,893

848,316
270,528

229
-

2,485
2,948,682

 10,263 
 902,655 
 199,000 
 200,404 

 1,475,000 
 3,555 

 330 
2,791,207

5. Due from other banks (continued)

An analysis of due from other banks based on external credit ratings is as follows:
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Outstanding balance 
Provision for expected credit loss
Carrying amount

Outstanding balance 
Provision for expected credit loss
Carrying amount

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

2,948,682
(1,553)

2,947,129

2,791,207
(445)

2,790,762

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

2,948,682
(1,553)

2,947,129

2,791,207
(445)

2,790,762

Due from banks stage-wise analysis  

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of due from other banks. The gross carrying 
amount of due from other banks, including accrued interest / profit, represents the Group’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk on these assets:

All the due from other banks are in stage 1 throughout the period and therefore have insignificant ECL. Accordingly, 
there have been no movements between stages in respect of these financial assets.

5. Due from other banks (continued)

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000
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6. Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables

Loans
Overdrafts
Islamic financing products
Loans against trust receipts
Other

Total loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables
Provision for expected credit loss 

Net loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables

By economic sector
Wholesale and retail trade
Real estate and construction
Personal loans and other
Manufacturing
Agriculture and allied activities
Transport and communication
Financial institutions
Services and other

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

6,224,681
1,401,570

232,859
108,087
24,636

                   
7,991,833
(352,177)

                   
7,639,656

1,099,471
2,488,031

485,427
387,166

1,213
232,786
535,042

2,762,697
7,991,833

6,946,683
1,259,522

278,897
111,111
44,619

                   
8,640,832
(377,563)

                   
8,263,269

 1,136,287 
 2,716,780 

 578,575 
 423,305 

 1,250 
 256,892 
 598,428 

 2,929,315 
8,640,832
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6. Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables (continued)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019
New assets originated or purchased
Assets derecognised or repaid
Transfer to Stage 1
Transfer to Stage 2
Transfer to Stage 3
Write off

As at 31 December 2020

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018
New assets originated or purchased
Assets derecognised or repaid
Transfer to Stage 1
Transfer to Stage 2
Transfer to Stage 3
Write off

As at 31 December 2019

7,114,324 
249,312

(528,672)
309,111

(118,034)
(212,512)

-

6,813,529

7,640,858
232,403

(736,751)
459,685

(465,661)
(16,210)

-

7,114,324

773,830 
1,052

(227,093)
(309,111)

185,893
(41,694)

-

382,877

1,015,533
18,176

(63,387)
(459,685)

465,661
(202,468)

-

773,830

752,678 
-

(19,432)
-

(67,859)
254,206

(124,166)

795,427

686,660
-

(21,199)
-
-

218,678
(131,461)

 752,678

8,640,832
250,364

(775,197)
-
-
-

(124,166) 

7,991,833

9,343,051
250,579

(821,337)
-
-
-

(131,461)

8,640,832

All loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables are from customers within U.A.E.

Movement in the gross balances of loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables 

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000
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6. Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables (continued)

ECL allowances as at 31 December 2019
Net impairment charged during the period
Recoveries
Transfer to Stage 1
Transfer to Stage 2
Transfer to Stage 3
Written off

Closing Balance as at 31 December 2020

ECL allowances as at 31 December 2018
Net impairment charged during the period
Recoveries
Transfer to Stage 1
Transfer to Stage 2
Transfer to Stage 3
Written off

Closing Balance as at 31 December 2019

97,146
3,161

-
15,047
(1,469)
(1,567)

-

112,318

112,860
(20,259)

-
12,426
(7,059)

(822)
-

97,146

48,909
6,812

-
(15,047)

1,469
(2,620)

-

39,523

69,716
2,797

-
(12,426)

7,059
(18,237)

-

48,909

231,508
97,159
(8,352)

-
-

4,187
(124,166)

200,336

235,563
192,739
(84,392)

-
-

19,059
(131,461)

231,508

377,563
107,132
(8,352)

-
-
-

(124,166)

352,177

418,139
175,277
(84,392)

-
-
-

(131,461)

377,563

Movement in the provision for expected credit loss of loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables:

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000
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6. Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables (continued)

Performing (Grades 1-12)
Sub Standard (Grade 13)
Doubtful (Grade 14)
Loss (Grades 15)

Total gross carrying amount
Expected credit loss

Carrying amount

Performing (Grades 1-12)
Sub Standard (Grade 13)
Doubtful (Grade 14)
Loss (Grades 15)

Total gross carrying amount
Expected credit loss

Carrying amount

6,813,528
-
-
-

6,813,528
(112,318)

6,701,210

7,114,324
-
-
-

7,114,324
(97,146)

7,017,178

382,878
-
-
-

382,878 
 (39,523)

343,355 

773,830
-
-
-

773,830
(48,909)

724,921

-
187,688
578,608
29,131

795,427
(200,336)

595,091

-
213,210
454,162
85,306

752,678
(231,508)

521,170

7,196,406
187,688
578,608
29,131

7,991,833
(352,177)

7,639,656

7,888,154
213,210
454,162
85,306

8,640,832
(377,563)

8,263,269

Grading of loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables along with stages:

The non-performing loans as at 31 December 2020 amounted to AED 795.43 million (2019: AED 752.68 million). 
Provisions for impairment in relation to such loans amounted to AED 200.34 million as at 31 December 2020 (2019: AED 
231.51 million) (see Note 31).

During Q4 2020 collaterals of few delinquent customers were sold and sale proceeds of AED 173.78 million was held 
with the UAE courts. The Bank is awaiting release of proceeds to adjust the outstanding balance of these delinquent 
customers.
 
Gross non preforming loans and collateral thereon as at 31 December 2020 would have been AED 621.65 million and 
AED 960.95 million respectively had the bank received the proceeds before year end.

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

31 December 2020

31 December 2019
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7.  Investment securities

Securities at FVTPL
Quoted equity securities
Discretionary funds managed by third parties – quoted equity securities

Securities at FVTOCI
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities

Securities at amortised cost 
Quoted debt instruments

Total investment securities
Provision for expected credit loss

Net investment securities

Gross investment securities by geographical area
Within U.A.E.
Within GCC
Other countries

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

17,730
248

17,978

759,593
747

760,340

165,285

943,603
(249)

943,354

865,038
44,152
34,413

943,603

20,801
247

21,048

840,661
747

841,408

238,716

1,101,172
(155)

1,101,017

1,030,618
40,952
29,602

1,101,172

Investment securities comprise the following:

All debt investment are classified as Stage 1 (31 December 2019: Stage 1) with corresponding ECL of AED 249 thousand 
(31 December 2019: AED 155 thousand).

Quoted debt securities aggregating AED 165.29 million (2019: AED 238.72 million) represent the Group’s investments in 
bonds and notes which are quoted on recognized exchanges and prices of which are available on internationally recognized 
platforms of Reuters and Bloomberg and are liquid in normal market conditions. 
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Balance at 1 January
Purchase of investment securities
Disposal and maturity of investment securities
Net fair value gain on investment securities at FVTPL
Net discount amortised on investment securities at amortised cost
Foreign exchange revaluation
Net fair value gain on investment securities at FVTOCI
Other movement in investments 

Balance At 31 December

AA-
A+
A
A-
BBB+
BBB- and below
Less: Provision for expected credit loss

AA
AA-
A+
A
A-
BBB+
BBB- and below
Less:  Provision for expected credit loss

2019
AED’000

2019
AED’000

Debt securities 
AED’000

Debt securities 
AED’000

Other Equity investments
AED’000

Other Equity investments
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

1,101,172
165,285

(238,746)
(3,069)

29
-

(77,619)
(3,449)

                   
943,603

 1,136,580 
 - 

 (117,537)
(3,439)

38
1

85,529
-

                   
1,101,172

 -     
-     

165,285
-     
-     
-     

(249)
165,036

 36,701 
 -     
 -     
 -     

 202,015 
 -     
 -     

(155)
238,561 

324,034
143,123
62,057

  79,344
66,287

103,473
-     

778,318

 -      
 340,359 
 153,739 
 106,895 
 79,806 
 77,243 

 104,414 
-     

 862,456

324,034
143,123
227,342
79,344
66,287

103,473
(249)

943,354

 36,701 
 340,359 
 153,739 
 106,895 
 281,821 
 77,243 

 104,414 
(155)

 1,101,017 

Movement in investment securities:

An analysis of the investment based on external credit ratings is as follows:

7.  Investment securities (continued)

2020

2019



55 Annual Report 2020

7.  Investment securities (continued)

Outstanding balance 
Provision for expected credit loss
Carrying amount

Outstanding balance 
Provision for expected credit loss
Carrying amount

165,285
(249)

165,036

238,716
(155)

238,561

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

165,285
(249)

165,036

238,716
(155)

238,561

Debt investments stage-wise analysis

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of debt investments and Islamic instruments. The gross 
carrying amount of debt investments, including accrued interest / profit, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk on these assets: 

Debt investments are in stage 1 throughout the period and therefore have insignificant ECL. Accordingly, there have been 
no significant movements between stages in respect of these financial assets.

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

8. Investment in an associate

1,500

2019   
Total

AED’000
Name of the        
associate

Tasareeh 
Business Men 
Center LLC 

Principal activity 

Providing visa application and 
renewal services, other business 
men services.  

Place of 
incorporation

Dubai, UAE

Ownership
(%)

30%

2020
   Total

AED’000

990

The details of associate is as follows:
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Balance at 1 January
Share of (losses)/profits from an associate
Dividend received from an associate
Balance at 31 December

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Group’s share of associate’s net assets
Total revenue
Net (loss)/ profit for the year
Share of associate’s net (loss)/profit for the year

2020
AED’000

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2019
AED’000

1,500
(510)

-
990

1,625
147

(272)
1,500

6,514
3,214
3,300

990
10,245
(1,700)

(510)

7,882
2,882
5,000

                   1,500
16,283

                   490
                  147

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate which is accounted by equity method is set out below:

Movement in the investment in an associate for the year:

8. Investment in an associate (continued)
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9. Property and equipment

Cost 
31 December 2018
Additions 
Disposals
Transfers

31 December 2019
Additions 
Disposals
Transfers
31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation
31 December 2018
Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposals
31 December 2019
Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposals
31 December 2020

Net carrying amount
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

       Land and
    buildings

AED’000

Computers
  and

  equipment
AED’000

  Leasehold
improvements

AED’000

Motor
   vehicles

AED’000
Total 

AED’000

Furniture
    and

    fixtures
AED’000

Capital
  work in

  progress
AED’000

108,822
 53 

 -   
 1,055 

                   
 109,930 

27,849
(161)

-   
137,618

                   

72,635
 2,161 

 -   
 74,796 

4,950
(128)

79,618
                   

58,000
                   

 35,134 

111,023
 670 

 (2,622)
 108 

                   
 109,179 

3,109
(187)

12,193
124,294

                   

98,563
 4,442 

 (2,622)
 100,383 

4,332
(170)

104,545
                   

19,749
                   

 8,796 

5,974
 49 

 (92)
 16 

                   
 5,947 

4
(94)

35
5,892

                   

5,393
 254 
 (92)

 5,555 
235
(94)

5,696
                   

196
                   

 392 

1,133
 304 

 (463)
 -   

                   
 974

-   
(162)

-   
812

                   

859
 143 

 (464)
 538 
114

(165)
487

                   

325
                   

 436 

8,107
 90 

 -   
 773 

                   
 8,970 

-   
(1,258)

47
7,759

                   

6,650
 478 

 -   
 7,128 

727
(1,169)

6,686
                   

1,073
                   

 1,842 

16,716
 2,385 
 (833)

 (1,952)
                   

 16,316 
3,055

(77)
(12,275)

7,019
                   

 -
 -   
 -   
 -   
-   
-   
-   

                   

7,019
                   

 16,316 

251,775
 3,551 

 (4,010)
- 

                   
 251,316 

34,017
(1,939)

-
283,394

                   

184,100
 7,478 

 (3,178)
 188,400 

10,358
(1,726)

197,032
                   

86,362
                   

 62,916 

Land and buildings include land costing AED 22.9 million (2019: AED 22.9 million) which is not depreciated. Capital work 
in progress represents expenditure incurred on land and buildings, computer and equipment, furniture and fixtures and 
leasehold improvements.
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10. Other assets

12. Customers’ deposits

11. Due to other banks

By geographical area

*Inventory represents properties acquired in settlement of debt. During 2020, the Group has recorded an impairment on its 
inventory amounting to AED 8.25 million (2019: AED 3.49 million)

**Others include amount of AED 124.87 million (2019: Nil) deposited with the UAE courts for auctions made by the bank  

All customers’ deposits are from customers within U.A.E.

Islamic customer’ deposits include Wakala and Mudaraba deposits amounting to AED 80.27 million (2019: AED 121.83 
million) undertaken through a Shari’a - compliant Islamic window.

Inventory*
Interest receivable
Prepayments and deposits
Other**

Time deposits
Current accounts
Savings deposits
Margin deposits
Islamic customers’ deposits

Demand deposits

Other countries outside U.A.E.

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2019
AED’000

63,726
39,105
19,157

129,447
251,435

 58,602 
 33,673 
 33,964 
 4,649 

130,888

5,307,100
2,616,166

191,898
29,420
80,274

8,224,858

 6,444,064 
 2,256,152 

 170,300 
42,760

121,832
9,035,108

                   

25 423

25 423
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13. Other liabilities

Borrowing from the U.A.E. Central Bank *
Accounts payable
Interest payable 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
Other staff benefits
Dividend payable
Provision for expected credit loss on acceptance
Provision for expected credit loss on commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
Cheques on Selves 
Other

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

198,560
25,638
26,588
20,873

761
10,619

421
7,177

144,481
22,414

457,532

-
 32,016 
 54,925 
 20,494 

 316 
 11,596 

390
3,513

 127,245
23,778

274,273

At 1 January
Provision made during the year (Note 23)
Payments made during the year
Balance at 31 December

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

20,494
2,654

(2,275)
20,873

 21,001 
 1,609 

 (2,116)
20,494

13.1 Movement in provision for employees’ end of service benefits:

*Represents ZCF availed from the U.A.E. Central Bank under the Targeted Economic Support Scheme (“TESS”).

Issued and fully paid:
1,848 million ordinary shares of AED 1 each

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

1,848,000 1,848,000

14. Share capital

15. Statutory reserve

In accordance with the UAE Federal Law No (2) of 2015, as amended, and the U.A.E. Union Law No. 10 of 1980, as 
amended, 10% of the profit for the year is transferred to a statutory reserve until such time as the balance in the reserve 
equals 50% of the paid up share capital. No profit was transferred in the current year to the statutory reserve, as it exceeds 
50% of the issued share capital of the Group. This reserve is not available for distribution.  
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16. General reserve

The Group maintains a general reserve and the contributions to this reserve are made at the discretion of the Directors. This 
reserve may be utilised for any purpose to be determined by a resolution of the shareholders of the Group at an Ordinary 
General Meeting.

Impairment Reserve under the Central Bank of UAE (“CBUAE”)

The CBUAE issued its IFRS 9 guidance on 30 April 2019 via notice no. CBUAE/BSD/2019/458 addressing various 
implementation challenges and practical implications for banks adopting IFRS 9 in the UAE (the “Guidance”). Pursuant to 
clause 6.4 of the guidance, the reconciliation between general and specific provision under circular 28/2010 of CBUAE and 
IFRS 9 is as follows: 

* contains Stage 1 and Stage 2 provision for loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables only.

Impairment Reserve: General
General Provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE
Less: Stage 1 & Stage 2 provisions under IFRS 9*

General Provision transferred to impairment reserve

Impairment Reserve: Specific
Specific Provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE
Less: Stage 3 provisions under IFRS 9

Specific Provision transferred to impairment reserve

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

149,022
151,841

                   
-

                   

200,336
(200,336)

                   
-

162,440
146,055

                   
16,385

                   

231,508
(231,508)

                   
-

17. Commitments and contingent liabilities

a) The contractual amounts of the Group’s commitments and contingencies are as follows:

Guarantees
Letters of credit
Commitments to extend credit
Other
At 31 December

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2,362,293
72,171

956,972
259,193

3,650,629

 3,779,813 
 80,132 

 1,211,646 
 20,403

5,091,994

By geographical area
Within U.A.E.
Outside the U.A.E.

3,632,460
18,169

3,650,629

 5,036,772 
 55,222 

5,091,994
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17. Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)
Guarantees, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payment in the event that a customer cannot 
meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans.

Letters of credit are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on 
the Group, up to a stipulated amount, under specific terms and conditions. These letters of credit are collateralized by the 
underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore have significantly less risk.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees 
or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to loss in an 
amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss, though not quantifiable, is considerably 
less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining 
specific credit standards. 

While there is some risk associated with the remainder of commitments, the risk is viewed as low-modest, since it results 
firstly from the possibility of the unused portion of loan authorizations being drawn by the customer, and second, from these 
drawings subsequently not being repaid as due. The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because 
longer term commitments generally have a greater degree of risk than shorter term commitments. 

The provision for expected credit loss against the off-balance sheet items disclosed above amounting to AED 7.18 million 
(2019: 3.51 million) is classified under other liabilities (Note 13).

b) Capital commitments

At 31 December 2020, the Group has capital commitments of AED 4.4 million (2019: AED 3.34 million).

Off balance sheet exposures stage-wise analysis

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk of relevant off balance sheet exposures and the related ECL. The 
gross carrying amount of off balance sheet exposures below represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on 
these assets: 
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17. Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)
b) Capital commitments (continued)

Outstanding balance 
Allowances for impairment (ECL)
Carrying amount

Gross carrying amount - 1 January 2020
Transferred from Stage 1
Net impairment charged during the period
Gross carrying amount – 31 December 2020

Gross carrying amount - 1 January 2019 
Transferred from Stage 1
Transferred from Stage 2
Transferred from Stage 3
Originated / expired during the period
Gross carrying amount – 31 December 2019

Outstanding balance 
Allowances for impairment (ECL)
Carrying amount

2,382,538
(7,171)

2,375,367

3,787,709
15,146

(1,420,317)
2,382,538

5,258,559
39,360

(16,094)
(908)

(1,493,208)
3,787,709

3,787,709
(3,324)

3,784,385

2,252
(6)

2,246

22,259
(15,146)
(4,861)

2,252

136,976
(39,360)

16,094
(57,569)
(33,882)

22,259

22,259
(189)

22,070

49,674
-     

49,674

49,977
-        

(303)
49,674

-     
-     
-     

58,477
(8,500)
49,977 

49,977
-      

49,977

2,434,464
(7,177)

2,427,287

3,859,945   
-        

(1,425,481)
2,434,464

5,395,535
-    
-      
-     

(1,535,590)
 3,859,945 

3,859,945
(3,513)

3,856,432

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Movement in the gross balance of commitment and contingencies 

Outstanding balance

Outstanding balance
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17. Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)

ECL allowances - 31 December 2019
Transferred from Stage 1
Net impairment charged during the period
ECL allowances – 31 December 2020

3,324
158

3,689
7,171

189
(158)
(25)

6

-     
-        
-        
-        

3,513
-        

3,664
7,177

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Movement in the provision for impairment of commitment and contingencies:

Grading of commitment and contingencies along with stages:

The provision for ECL against the off-balance sheet exposures disclosed above, amounting to AED 7.18 million, (2019: 
AED 3.51 million) is classified under other liabilities.

ECL – AED’ 000

Performing (Grades 1-12)
Sub Standard (Grade 13)
Doubtful (Grade 14)
Loss (Grades 15)

Total gross carrying amount
Expected credit loss

Carrying amount

Performing (Grades 1-12)
Sub Standard (Grade 13)
Doubtful (Grade 14)
Loss (Grades 15)

Total gross carrying amount
Expected credit loss

Carrying amount

2,382,538
-
-
-

2,382,538
(7,171)

2,375,367

3,787,709
-
-
-

3,787,709
(3,324)

3,784,385

2,252
-
-
-

2,252
(6)

2,246

22,259
-
-
-

22,259
(189)

22,070

-
285

10,765
38,624

49,674
-

49,674

-
346

10,765
38,866

49,977
-

49,977

2,384,790
285

10,765
38,624

2,434,464
(7,177)

2,427,287

3,809,968
346

10,765
38,866

3,859,945
(3,513)

3,856,432

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

31 December 2020

31 December 2019
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18. Interest income and expense

19. Net fees and commission income

20. Other operating income

Interest income
Loans and receivables
   Loans and advances
   Deposits with the U.A.E. Central Bank
   Other banks
Investment in debt securities

Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expenses

Net fees and commission income

Rental income
Foreign exchange income, net 
Other

Interest expense
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
   Customers’ deposits 
   Borrowings from other banks

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

348,019
3,947

27,021
10,174

389,161

 489,099 
 14,702 
 60,886 
 11,269 

575,956

75,154
(1,411)

                   
73,743

79,605
(1,344)

                   
78,261

4,679
3,432

21,730
29,841

 6,182 
 2,941 

20,432
29,555

86,984
106

87,090

 104,415 
 272 

104,687
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21. Operating expenses

Staff costs (Note 23)
Occupancy costs
Depreciation (Note 9)
Staff benefits (Note 23)
Other

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

75,686
11,880
10,358
7,732

43,604
149,260

 83,211 
 13,840 
 7,478 
 6,976 

 30,718 
142,223

22. Investment gains

Dividend income:
Investment securities at FVTOCI
Investment securities at FVTPL

Fair value loss on investment securities at FVTPL
Foreign exchange revaluation
Net discount amortised on debt securities

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

42,826
103

(3,069)
215
29

40,104

41,244
195

(3,439)
1

38
38,039
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23. Staff costs

Staff costs
Salaries and allowances
Staff training
Housing and medical

Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables 
Due from other banks 
Investment securities
Acceptances and off-balance sheet items
Impairment of asset acquired in settlement of debt

Staff benefits
Pension
End of service benefits
Other

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

73,451
417

1,818
75,686

80,755 
 525 

 1,931 
83,211

98,780
1,109

94
3,695
8,254

111,932

 90,886 
 (3,033)
 (2,203)
 (8,156)

3,494
80,988

3,467
2,654
1,611
7,732

 3,439 
 1,609 
 1,928 

                   6,976

Profit for the year in AED

Average number of shares in issue

Basic earnings per share in AED 

2020 2019

211,772,000
                       
1,848,000,015
                       

0.11

424,392,000
                       
1,848,000,015
                       

0.23

24. Net impairment losses  

25. Basic and diluted earnings per share

There were no potentially dilutive shares as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. 

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to shareholders by the average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

26. Dividend per share 

Payment of cash dividend of 8% of the share capital amounting to AED 147.84 million for year ending 31 December 2020 
has been approved by the UAE Central Bank.(2019: AED 203.28 million).
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27. Related party transactions

The Group carries out transactions in the ordinary course of business with related parties, defined as shareholders who 
have a significant equity interest in the Group, and all Directors of the Group and companies in which such shareholders 
and Directors have a significant interest and key management personnel of the Group. 

During the year, the Group entered into the following significant transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of 
business.

The Group has entered into transactions with related parties which were made on substantially the same terms, 
including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with third 
parties.

Outstanding balances at the end of reporting date from transactions with related parties are as follows:

The loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables given to related parties have been secured against 
collateral amounting to AED 61.15 million (2019: AED 449.16 million). All loans and advances to related parties 
are classified as Stage 1 (31 December 2019: Stage 1) with corresponding ECL of AED 1.88 million (31 December 
2019: AED 4.55 million). 

Interest income
Interest expense 
Other income 
Directors’ fees

Remuneration of key management personnel
Salaries and other short-term benefits
Employee end of service benefits

Related parties (excluding key management)
Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables
Customer deposits and Islamic customer deposits
Irrevocable commitments and contingent liabilities

Key Management
Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables
Customer deposits and Islamic customer deposits

2020
AED’000

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

2019
AED’000

4,768
48,951

93
3,000

2,662
105

 16,593 
 53,613 

 332 
 3,000 

4,473
132

82,798
2,728,217

260,229

534
412

 316,461
 2,379,097

 496,595

312 
 278  
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28. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and balances with the U.A.E. Central bank (Note 4)
Due from other banks (Note 5)

Statutory deposits 
Certificates of deposits with original maturity over 3 months
Due to other banks (Note 11)

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

1,510,911
2,948,682
4,459,593
(311,914)
(475,000)

(25)
3,672,654

 1,729,448 
 2,791,207 
4,520,655
 (537,173)
 (350,000)

(423)
3,633,059

29. Business segments 

The Group is organised into two main business segments:

Retail and corporate banking - wherein retail banking comprises private customer current accounts, savings accounts, 
deposits, credit and debit cards, customer loans and mortgages. Corporate banking involves transactions with corporate 
bodies including government and public bodies and comprises loans, advances, deposits and trade finance transactions.

Treasury and investments - incorporating the activities of the dealing room, related money market, foreign exchange 
transactions with other banks and financial institutions including the U.A.E. Central Bank and operations by the Bank’s 
Head Office as a whole, none of which mutually constitute a separately reportable segment.

Others- Other consists of assets, liabilities, income and expenses attributable to either head office or not directly related to 
business segments. 

Transactions between the business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions. There are no material items 
of income and expense arising between the business segments. Segment assets and liabilities comprise operating assets 
and liabilities, being the majority of the condensed consolidated statement of financial position items.
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Primary segment information

31 December 2020
Net interest income and income from Islamic 

products net of distribution to depositors

Net fees and commission income

Other operating income 

Gross income

Operating expenses

Investment gains

Share of loss from an associate

Provision for impairment on financial assets 

and non-financial assets 

Segment result

Segment assets
Segment liabilities and equity

31 December 2019

Net interest income and income from Islamic 

products net of distribution to depositors

Net fees and commission income

Other operating income 

Gross income

Operating expenses

Investment gains

Share of profits from an associate

Provision for impairment on financial assets 

and non-financial assets 

Segment result

Segment assets

Segment liabilities and equity

Retail and
  corporate
   banking

AED’000

Retail and
  corporate
   banking

AED’000

Treasury 
and 

investments
AED’000

Treasury 
and 

investments
AED’000

Others
AED’000

Others
AED’000

Total 
AED’000

Total 
AED’000

     

         35,977
3,183

236
39,396

(2,092)
40,104

-     

(1,203)
76,205

4,990,260
450,665

     

         82,290 

           2,433 

              447 

         85,170 

         (2,305)

         38,039 

-     

       (10,631)

       110,273 

    5,068,864 

       511,016 

 

 

293,809
69,523
1,340

364,672

(42,558)
-     
-     

(107,035)
215,079

7,843,937
8,139,668

 

 

       419,311 

         74,126 

             4,123 

       497,560 

        (46,193)

-     

-     

        (78,513)

       372,854 

    8,425,936 

    8,742,448 

       

-
1,037

28,265
29,302

(104,610)
-     

(510)

        (3,694)
(79,512)

711,847
4,955,711

       

 -     

           1,702 

         24,985 

         26,687 

      (93,725)

-     

              147 

           8,156 

      (58,735)

       802,382 

    5,043,718 

       329,786
73,743
29,841

433,370

(149,260)
40,104

(510)

(111,932)
211,772

13,546,044
13,546,044

       501,601 

         78,261 

         29,555 

       609,417 

      (142,223)

         38,039 

              147 

        (80,988)

       424,392 

   14,297,182 

   14,297,182 

29. Business segments (continued)
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30. Classification and fair value of financial and non-financial instruments

31 December 2020

Cash and balances with the 
U.A.E. Central Bank
Due from other banks
Loans and advances and Islamic 
financing receivables
Investment securities
Customers’ acceptances
Investment in an associate
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total assets

31 December 2019

Cash and balances with the 
U.A.E. Central Bank
Due from other banks
Loans and advances and Islamic 
financing receivables
Investment securities
Customers’ acceptances
Investment in an associate
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total assets

Assets

Assets

At 
FVTPL

AED’000

At 
FVTPL

AED’000

At amortised 
cost

 AED’000

At amortised 
cost

 AED’000

   At 
FVTOCI

AED’000

   At 
FVTOCI

AED’000

Non-financial
instruments

AED’000

Non-financial
instruments

AED’000

Total 
AED’000

Total 
AED’000

     

 -     
-     
-     

760,340
-     
-     
-     
-     

                   
760,340

     

 - 
-

-
841,408

-
-
-
-

841,408

 
 

-     
-     
-     

17,978
-     
-     
-     
-     

                 
17,978

 
 

 - 
-

-
21,048

-
-
-
-

21,048

 
 
 

1,510,911
2,947,129
7,639,656

165,036
166,207

-     
-     

39,105
                   
12,468,044

 
 
 

 1,729,448 
2,790,762

8,263,269
238,561
217,772

-
-

33,673
13,273,485

       

-     
-     
-     
-      
-     

990
86,362

212,330
                   

299,682

       

 - 
-

-
-
-

1,500
62,916
97,215

161,631

 1,510,911
2,947,129
7,639,656

943,354
166,207

990
86,362

251,435
                   
13,546,044

 1,729,448 
2,790,762

8,263,269
1,101,017

217,772
 1,500

62,916
130,888

14,297,572

31 December 2020

Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customer deposits 
Customers’ acceptances
Other liabilities
Total liabilities 

31 December 2019 

Customers’ deposits and Islamic customer deposits
Customers’ acceptances
Other liabilities
Total liabilities 

Liabilities
Non-financial

Instruments
AED’000

At amortised
      cost

AED’000
Total 

AED’000
     

25
8,224,858

166,207
435,898

8,826,988                   

423
9,035,108

217,772
253,463

9,506,766

       

-
-
-

21,634
21,634                   

 -
 -
 -

20,810
20,810

 25
8,224,858

166,207
457,532

8,848,622
                   

 423 
 9,035,108 

 217,772 
274,273

9,527,576
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Fair value measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. As such, differences can arise between book values and the fair value 
estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention 
or requirement to materially curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurements in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost

The fair value of the quoted debt instruments at amortised cost at 31 December 2020 amounted to AED 165.90 million 
(31 December 2019: AED 245.15 million). The fair value determination of the quoted debt instruments will fall under level 
1 category wherein fair value is determined based on inputs that are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

Except as detailed above, the management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities 
measured at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined using similar valuation techniques and 
assumptions as used for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on recurring basis
 
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The following table 
gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determine

30. Classification and fair value of financial and non-financial instruments (continued)
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There were no transfers between each of level during the year. There are no financial liabilities which should be categorised 
under any of the level in table above. 

Financial assets at FVTPL
Quoted equity securities 
Discretionary funds managed by third parties – quoted equity securities

Financial assets at FVTOCI

Quoted equity securities 
Unquoted equity securities
Positive fair value of Derivative
Negative fair value of Derivative

Financial assets

Fair value as at

Fair value 
hierarchy

31 December 
2019

AED’000

31 December 
2020

AED’000

Level 1

Level 1

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

Level 2

17,730
248

725,279
35,061

   211
2

20,801
247

811,059
30,349

-
4

31. Financial risk management 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance 
and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the 
operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate 
balance between risk and return and minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group’s 
exposure can be broadly categorized into the following defined Material Risks:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk (includes currency risk and interest rate risk)
• Operational risk (includes risks arising from Group’s processes, personnel, technology, legal, regulatory requirements 

and information security risks)

Reputational and strategic business risks are interrelated to the above defined Material Risks. These risks are considered 
through the Bank’s strategic planning and general risk management activities. NBQ risk management strategy is focused on 
ensuring awareness, measurement and appropriate oversight to these defined material risks.

The Group remains focused to further develop its enterprise risk management culture, practices and processes proactively 
on an ongoing basis. 

The Group has complied with the new ‘Capital Adequacy Regulations’ issued by the UAE Central Bank during 2017, which is 
in accordance with the revised rules outlined by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision in ‘Basel III: A global regulatory 
framework for more resilient banks and banking systems.’ Relevant information / details have been disclosed in note 35.

Credit risk

The Group assumes credit risk as part of its lending operations, which is identified as the risk that counterparty will cause a 
financial loss for the Group by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk exposures arise principally in loans and advances, 
due from banks and investment securities measured at amortized cost. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial 

30. Classification and fair value of financial and non-financial instruments (continued)
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31. Financial risk management (continued)

arrangements such as letters of credit, guarantees and undrawn loan commitments. The credit risk management and 
control are centralized in the Credit Risk Department with the following objectives:

• To measure, monitor and mitigate risks both at micro as well as macro level.
• To facilitate building and sustaining a high quality credit portfolio and minimise losses.
• Contain non-performing assets through preventive and curative management.
• To identify early warning signals and initiate timely corrective action.

Credit Risk Department has various units viz., Portfolio & Rating unit, Remedial Unit and Risk Containment Unit. Internal 
risk rating systems are implemented to comply with IRB Foundation norms of Basel II. Remedial Unit and Risk containment 
units are functioning to prevent accretion of non-performing assets through timely action and maximize recoveries through 
vigorous follow-up, classification of delinquent exposures and negotiate compromise proposals, wherever required. Note 
31 summarize the Group’s exposure to credit risk.

Credit Risk Mitigation

Collateral - It is a common practice to obtain collateral securities to safeguard the interest of the Group in case of default. 
Such mitigant are backed by proper documentation and legally binding agreements. The most common forms of tangible 
securities accepted by the Group are land and building, listed equity shares, fixed deposits under lien, vehicles etc. 

Other comforts - personal guarantees and corporate guarantees are also taken as comfort, wherever deemed essential.

Market risk

Market risk for the Group refers to the risk because of which the value of its on or off-balance sheet positions are adversely 
affected due to movements primarily in interest rates, currency exchange rates and investment prices. Thus, the volatility in 
market level of interest rates, foreign exchange rates and investment prices expose the Group’s earnings and capital to risk.

The market risk department of the Group addresses these risks to the Assets and Liability Committee (ALCO) on a regular 
basis based on stipulated norms for Asset Liability Management and Investments. The ALCO takes corrective measures as 
per the Group’s internal market risk policies and strategic business directions. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. Liquidity risk can be caused 
by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up immediately. To guard 
against this risk, management endeavors to diversify funding sources on a continuous basis and manage assets with 
liquidity in mind. The day-to-day funds management is done at Treasury so as to maintain satisfactory liquid assets. The 
liquidity position is monitored and reported to top management on a daily basis. The Group’s ALCO has put in place the 
policies to manage the liquidity risk and monitor the position regularly. 

As part of the ICAAP, the Bank assesses the impact on capital adequacy of liquidity risk including concentrations by 
carrying out stress tests. In preparation for compliance with Basel III requirements, the Group has implemented a system 
for calculating Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) in line with the UAE Central Bank’s 
regulations and is working on strengthening processes and qualitative requirements proactively. 
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31. Financial risk management (continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the potential that changes in interest rates may adversely affect the value of a financial instrument or 
portfolio, or the condition of the Group as a whole. Although interest-rate risk arises in all types of financial instruments, it 
is most pronounced in debt instruments, derivatives that have debt instruments as their underlying reference asset, and 
other derivatives whose values are linked to market interest rates. In general, the values of longer-term instruments are 
often more sensitive to interest-rate changes than the values of shorter-term instruments. A part of interest rate risk can be 
labelled as yield curve risk, which refers to the imperfect correlation of interest rates of different maturities.

The Group manages its interest rate sensitivity position based on anticipated and actual interest rate movements, in order 
to maximise net interest income (“NII”). The Group analyses its interest rate sensitivity position based on the contractual 
repricing or maturity dates, whichever is earlier, regularly. The impact on the sensitivity position is calculated by way of 
200 basis points (“bps”) change in interest rates and resultant effect in the net interest income of the Group. It is controlled 
through the limit prescribed for the same. Note 33 summarizes the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the effective interest rate on
• Due from other banks was 1.05% (2019: 2.51%)
• Certificate of deposits with Central Bank was 0.64% (2019: 2.23%)
• Loans and advances was 4.70% (2019: 5.64%)
• Investment securities at amortised cost was 0.99% (2019: 1.01%)
• Customers’ deposits was 1.00% (2019: 1.16%) 
• Due to other banks was 0.07% (2019: 1.81%). 

Interest rate benchmark reform
 
A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally to replace or reform IBOR with 
alternative risk-free rates (referred to as ‘IBOR reform’). The Group has “limited” exposure to interbank offered rates (IBORs) 
on its financial instruments that will be replaced or reformed as part of this market-wide initiative. There is an uncertainty 
over the timing and the methods of transition. The Group anticipates that IBOR reform will have “limited” operational, risk 
management and accounting impacts across all of its business lines. The Group has negligible exposure on LIBOR linked 
financial instruments and their impact on group’s financial position during the transition phase is expected to be insignificant.

Currency risk

The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial 
position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both overnight and 
intra-day positions, which are monitored by the Treasury Department. Note 34 summarizes the Group’s exposure to foreign 
currency exchange risk.

Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, 
or from external events. This definition includes legal risk, but excludes strategic and reputational risk. Operational risk is 
inherent in all business activities and management of this risk is vital to the strategic objective of the Group. While operational 
risk cannot be fully eliminated, management endeavor to minimize the losses by ensuring effective infrastructure, controls, 
systems and individuals are in place throughout the organization.

To accomplish the above objective, the Group has dedicated operational risk management function, which is proactive in 
developing and implementing new methodologies for the identification, assessment, monitoring, and control of operational 
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risk. Systems and procedures are in place with clear segregation of duties and reporting line to reduce operational risk. 
Compliance with the guidelines is monitored through robust internal control and comprehensive internal audit system.

The role of the Internal Audit Function within the Group is to provide independent and objective assurance that the process 
for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced by the Group is appropriate and effectively applied. In 
addition, it also provides an independent check on the compliance with laws and regulations and measuring compliance 
with the Group’s policies and procedures. Additionally, Internal Audit provides consulting services which are advisory in 
nature and are generally performed at the specific request of the Senior Management. It is led by the Head of Internal Audit 
who reports to the Audit Committee of the Board, with administrative reporting line to the general manager. To perform its 
role effectively, Internal Audit has organizational independence from management, to enable unrestricted evaluation of 
management activities and personnel. 

UAE Central Bank during the year has issued a number of standards and regulations on the various elements of overall 
Risk Management and Capital Management Framework. The standards and regulations includes but not limited to financial 
reporting, external audit, internal controls, compliance & internal audit, operational, country and transfer risk, market risk 
and interest rate and rate of return risk which were effected in 2020. The Group had taken measures to adhere to the 
aforementioned new standards and regulations to ensure compliance from the effective implementation date.

The Group has implemented under noted processes aimed at monitoring and mitigating operational risks.

• Bottom up approach (Risk and Control Assessment) for identification and assessment of operational risks at all business 
units.

• Establishing a centralised database for capturing operational risk losses.

A comprehensive Business Contingency and Continuity Plan to anticipate stress situations and mitigate the risk associated 
with them is under implementation.

Significant increase in credit risk

The Group monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group will 
measure the loss allowance based on lifetime ECL rather than 12-month ECL.

Internal credit risk ratings

To assess the creditworthiness of the borrowers, the Group has in place an internal credit risk rating system. The Group’s 
credit risk grading framework comprises 15 categories. The credit rating information is based on a range of data that is 
determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement. The nature of the exposure 
and type of borrower are taken into account in the analysis. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative 
factors that are indicative of risk of default.

The credit risk grades are designed and calibrated to reflect the risk of default as credit risk deteriorates. As the credit risk 
increases the difference in risk of default between grades changes. Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade at 
initial recognition, based on the available information about the counterparty. All exposures are monitored and the credit risk 
grade is updated to reflect current information. The monitoring procedures followed are both general and tailored to the type 
of exposure. The following data are typically used to monitor the Group’s exposures:
• Payment record, including payment ratios and ageing analysis;
• Extent of utilization of granted limit;

31. Financial risk management (continued)
Operational risk (continued)
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• Changes in business, financial and economic conditions;
• Information obtained by periodic review of customer files including audited financial statements review

The Group uses credit risk grades as a primary input into the determination of the term structure of the PD for exposures. 
The table below provides a mapping of the Group’s internal credit risk grades.

Group’s credit risk  grades  Grade Description
1   AAA  Substantially Risk Free
2   AA+  Low Risk
3   AA  Minimal Risk
4   AA-  Modest Risk
5   A+  Average Risk
6   A  Above Average Risk
7   A-  Medium Risk
8   BBB  Medium to High Risk
9   BB+  Moderately High Risk
10   BB  Significant Risk
11   B+  Significantly High Risk
12   B  Watchlist
13   C  Substandard
14   D  Doubtful
15   E  Loss

The Group analyses all data collected using statistical models and estimates the lifetime PD of exposures and how these 
are expected to change over time. The factors taken into account in this process include macro-economic data such as 
GDP growth, Real Estate prices, oil prices, occupancy rates etc. The Group generates a ‘base case’ scenario of the future 
direction of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. The Group 
then uses these forecasts, which are probability-weighted, to adjust its estimates of PDs.

The Group uses different criteria to determine whether credit risk has increased significantly per portfolio of assets. The 
criteria used are both quantitative changes in PDs as well as qualitative. 

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group uses forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort in its assessment of significant 
increase of credit risk as well as in its measurement of ECL. The Group engage experts who use external and internal 
information to generate a ‘base case’ scenario of future forecast of relevant economic variables along with a representative 
range of other possible forecast scenarios. The external information used includes economic data and forecasts published 
by governmental bodies and monetary authorities.

The Group applies probabilities to the forecast scenarios identified. The base case scenario is the single most-likely 
outcome and consists of information used by the Group for strategic planning and budgeting. The Group has identified and 
documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial instruments and, using a statistical 
analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses. 

31. Financial risk management (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Internal credit risk ratings (continued)
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Predicted relationships between the macro-economic indicators and default and loss rates on various portfolios of financial 
assets have been developed based on analysing historical data over the past 7 years except for credit cards where 5 years 
of historical data was used. 

Measurement of ECL

The key inputs used for measuring ECL are:

• Probability of default (PD);
• Loss given default (LGD); and
• Exposure at default (EAD).

These elements are derived from internally developed statistical models based on historical data and data available from 
reliable sources. They are adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-looking information.

PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. It is estimated as at a point in time. The calculation 
is based on statistical rating models, and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various categories of counterparties and 
exposures. These statistical models are based on market data (where available), as well as internal data comprising both 
quantitative and qualitative factors. 

LGD is an estimate of the magnitude of loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from any collateral. The 
LGD models for secured assets consider forecasts of future collateral valuation taking into account sale discounts, time 
to realization of collateral, cross- collateralization and seniority of claim, cost of realization of collateral. LGD models for 
unsecured assets consider time of recovery & recovery rates. The calculation is on a discounted cash flow basis, where the 
cash flows are discounted by the original EIR of the loan.

EAD represents the expected exposure at a future default date. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure 
to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract, including amortisation and 
payment of principal and interest. The EAD of a financial asset will be the gross carrying amount at default. For lending 
commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD will consider the amount drawn, as well as potential future amounts that 
may be drawn or repaid under the contract, which will be estimated based on credit conversion factors.

The measurement of ECL is based on probability weighted average credit loss. As a result, the measurement of the loss 
allowance should be the same regardless of whether it is measured on an individual basis or a collective basis (although 
measurement on a collective basis is more practical for large portfolios of items). In relation to the assessment of whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk it can be necessary to perform the assessment on a collective basis 
where the financial instruments are grouped based on product type risk characteristics.

Weighted average ECL is calculated considering base case, upside and downside scenarios multiplied by the associated 
scenario weightings, at the contract level for reflection of the ECL impact in the books of accounts.

The most significant period-end assumptions used for ECL estimate as at 31 December 2020 are set out below. The 
scenarios base case, upside and downside were used for all portfolios keeping in view the following principal macroeconomic 
variables:

31. Financial risk management (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued)
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Macroeconomic variables

Lag3 ECI 
(% Quarterly YoY change)

Real estate 
Dubai(average residential price) 
AED/m2 

Emirates interbank offerrate: 
EIBOR lag_3

Inflation, average consumer price 
index (year-on-year % change) 
lag2

Change in ECL due to change in macroeconomic variables

Stage 1
Stage 2

Scenario Assigned 
probabilities

2020 2022

Base case

2021 2023

Upside 

2024

Downside

40%
20%
40%

40%
20%
40%

40%
20%
40%

40%
20%
40%

(6.00)% 
(5.87)%
(6.13)%

12,882
12,883
12,881

1.06%
0.51%
1.62%

0.12%
1.35%

(1.11%)

2.26%
2.31%
2.21%

12,882
12,883
12,881

1.46%
0.90%
2.01%

2.91%
4.14%
1.68%

+9.102%
- 0.053%

1.30%
1.33%
1.27%

12,882
12,883
12,881

1.41%
0.86%
1.97%

2.60%
3.84%
1.37%

2.60%
2.65%
2.55%

12,882
12,883
12,881

1.48%
0.92%
2.03%

3.05%
4.28%
1.82%

+9.110%
- 0.052%

2.60%
2.65%
2.55%

12,882
12,884
12,881

1.48%
0.92%
2.03%

3.05%
4.28%
1.82%

+9.088%
- 0.055%

Base case
Upside

Downside

Base case
Upside

Downside

Base case
Upside

Downside

Base case
Upside

Downside

31. Financial risk management (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
If the macroeconomic variables (defined above) were to change by the base case, upside and downside scenarios, there 
has been no significant sensitivity impact on ECL.

Credit quality

The credit quality of the loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables is managed by the Group using internal 
credit ratings comprising 12 grades. The risk rating system is used as a credit risk management tool whereby any risks 
taken on the Group’s books are rated against a set of predetermined standards which are in line with the UAE Central 
Bank guidelines. 

An analysis of the Group’s credit risk exposure per class of financial asset and “stage” without taking into account the 
effects of any collateral or other credit enhancements along with a summary of the movement in provision for expected 
credit loss on financial instruments by category is provided note 6 for loans and advances and Islamic financing, note 5 
for due from other banks, note 7 for investment securities and note 17 for commitments and contingencies. 
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COVID- 19 and Expected Credit Losses (ECL)

The economic fallout of COVID-19 crisis continues to evolve. Regulators and governments across the globe have intro-
duced fiscal and economic stimulus measures to mitigate its impact on corporates and individuals. The relief measures 
include liquidity support, payment moratoriums to customers and capital relief by the CBUAE

The Bank in its ECL computations has taken into consideration the guidelines issued by CBUAE on TESS and ‘Treat-
ment of IFRS9 Expected Credit Loss in the context of COVID-19 crisis’ as well as the guidance issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Further, the Bank has robust governance in place to ensure the appropriateness 
of the IFRS 9 framework and resultant ECL estimates at all times. The Bank has also reviewed the potential impact of 
COVID-19 outbreak on the inputs and assumptions for IFRS9 ECL measurement in light of available information. 

The Bank has considered macroeconomic variable forecast which are in line with the latest forecast published by the 
CBUAE in its quarterly economic review. As at 31 December 2020, the probability of pessimistic scenario is increased 
from 30% to 40% while the probability of the upturn scenario is reduced from 30% to 20% as compared 31 December 
2019. The changes in the assigned probabilities of the macro economic scenario and the management overlays resulted 
in additional ECL of AED 23 million for year ended at 31 December 2020. Overlays are judgmental and the Bank contin-
ues to reassess the impact on a regular basis.

As per the CBUAE requirements, the Bank has divided its customers benefitting from payment deferrals into two groups 
as follows:
• Group 1: includes those customers that are not expected to face substantial changes in their creditworthiness, be-

yond liquidity issues and are temporarily and mildly impacted by the Covid-19 crisis. For these clients, the payment 
deferrals are believed to be effective and thus the economic value of the facilities is not expected to be materially 
affected. These customers will remain in their current IFRS 9 stage, for the duration of the crisis.

• Group 2: includes those customers that are expected to face substantial changes in their creditworthiness, in addition 
to liquidity issues that will be addressed by payment deferrals. For these customers, there is sufficient deterioration in 
credit risk to trigger IFRS 9 stage migration. The Group continues to monitor the creditworthiness of these customers, 
particularly indications of potential inability to pay any of their obligations as and when they become due.

Accordingly, all staging and grouping decisions are subject to regular review to ensure these reflect an accurate view of 
the Bank’s assessment of the customers’ creditworthiness, staging and grouping as of the reporting date.

31. Financial risk management (continued)
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31. Financial risk management (continued)
COVID- 19 and Expected Credit Losses (ECL) (continued)

Analysis of customers benefiting from payment deferrals

Analysis of customers benefitting from payment deferrals by type, groups and segments, with the related ECL:

As at 31 December 2020, the Bank has availed ZCF facilities amounting to AED 198.56 million which has been fully uti-
lized to provide payment relief to the impacted customers.

Group wise break up as at 31 December 2020 (audited):

Gross exposure
ECL
Deferral amount
Number of customers

Gross exposure
ECL
Net exposure
Deferral amount

Wholesale 
Gross exposure
ECL
Net Wholesale exposure

Retail  
Gross exposure
ECL
Net Retail exposure

Wholesale
AED’000

Group 1
AED’000

Group 1
AED’000

Group 1
AED’000

Retail
AED’000

Group 2
AED’000

Group 2
AED’000

Group 2
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

1,871,537
47,299

197,118
59

1,834,120
(45,145)

1,788,975
178,115

1,831,136
(45,133)

1,786,003

2,984
(12)

2,972

13,355
765

1,446
3

50,772
(2,919)
47,853
20,450

40,401
(2,166)
38,235

10,371
(753)
9,618

1,884,892
48,064

198,564
62

1,884,892
(48,064)

1,836,828
198,564

1,871,537
(47,299)

1,824,238

13,355
(765)

12,590
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31. Financial risk management (continued)
COVID- 19 and Expected Credit Losses (ECL) (continued)

Sectoral composition of Gross exposure and ECL for customers benefitting from payment deferrals:

Economic Sector
Wholesale and retail trade
Real estate and construction
Personal loans and other
Manufacturing
Transport and communication
Services and other
Grand Total

By Product
Term Loans
Loans against trust receipts
Grand Total

Gross Exposure
AED’000

Gross Exposure
AED’000

ECL
AED’000

ECL
AED’000

96,672
593,096
123,116
88,637

146,788
836,583

1,884,892

1,866,276
18,616

1,884,892

5,749
16,040
5,849
2,649
3,198

14,579
48,064

47,413
651

48,064

Movement in the gross balances of loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables deferred:

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020
Originated/Derecognized during the period
Transfer to Stage 1
Transfer to Stage 2
Transfer to Stage 3

Gross exposure as at 31 December 2020 

2,591,279
(785,540)

2,713
(20,581)

-

1,787,871

224,867
(173,414)

(2,713)
48,281

-

97,021

27,700
-
-

(27,700)
-

-

2,843,846
(958,954)

-
-
-

1,884,892

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Movement in the provision for impairment of loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables deferred:

ECL allowances as at 1 January 2020
Originated/Derecognized during the period
Transfer to Stage 1
Transfer to Stage 2

ECL as at 31 December 2020

36,757
3,761

9
(194)

40,333

14,763
(7,217)

(9)
194

7,731

-
-
-
-

-

51,520
(3,456)

-
-

48,064

Stage 1
AED’000

Stage 2
AED’000

Stage 3
AED’000

Total
AED’000
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Settlement risk

The Group’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk 
of loss due to the failure of the counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contrac-
tually due. Any delays in settlement are monitored and quantified as part of the Group’s Credit Risk Management.

For certain types of transactions, the Group mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a settlement/ clearing 
agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual settlement obligations. Set-
tlement limits form part of the credit approval / limit monitoring process. Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement 
trades requires transaction specific or counterparty specific approvals in accordance with the approved credit framework.

Risk mitigation, collateral and credit enhancements

In line with Basel and IFRS 9 standards, the Credit Risk Management Framework (CRMF) outlines the basis pertaining 
to the eligibility, valuation, roles & responsibilities of various departments and overall management of collateral in order 
adopt effective credit risk mitigation mechanism and maximize the use of eligible collateral.

The eligible collateral under IFRS 9 helps in arriving at EAD and LGD for Expected Credit Loss (ECL) calculations. As 
for measuring ECL, the expected cash shortfalls will reflect via LGD the cash flows expected from collateral realization 
provided the same are as per contractual terms.

The Group manages credit exposure by obtaining security where appropriate, and in certain cases, the Group may also 
close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk.

The amount and type of collateral depends on assessments of the credit risk of the counterparty. The types of collateral 
mainly include cash, guarantees, pledge over listed shares and mortgage and liens over properties or other securities 
over assets. Pledged interests over vehicles, ships and equipment are also obtained. Collateral generally is not held 
against non-trading investments and due from banks and financial institutions.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, and wherever necessary the Group requests additional collateral 
in accordance with the underlying agreement, and considers collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the 
allowance for impairment losses.

Estimates of fair value are generally assessed on a periodic basis in accordance with the respective credit policies an 
estimate of fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against the loan and Islamic financing portfolio is 
shown on below:

31. Financial risk management (continued)
COVID- 19 and Expected Credit Losses (ECL) (continued)
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Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

Total

Funded 
balance

AED’000

Non-funded 
balance

AED’000

Immovable 
collateral
AED’000

Other 
collateral
AED’000

Total
collateral
AED’000

2,548,746
2,251

49,674

2,600,671 

6,813,529
382,877
795,428

7,991,834

11,745,006
622,433

1,020,825

13,388,264 

2,127,769
1,081

113,907

2,242,757 

13,872,775
623,514

1,134,732

15,631,021

2020

31. Financial risk management (continued)
Risk mitigation, collateral and credit enhancements (continued)

Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3

Total

Funded 
balance

AED’000

Non-funded 
balance

AED’000

Immovable 
collateral
AED’000

Other 
collateral
AED’000

Total
collateral
AED’000

3,787,709 
22,259 
49,977 

3,859,945 

7,114,324 
773,830 
752,678 

8,640,832 

12,113,838
1,385,686
1,057,357

14,556,881

3,499,426
6,684

108,674

3,614,784

15,613,264 
1,392,370 
1,166,031 

18,171,665 

2019

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements:

Due from other banks
Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables 
Customer acceptances
Investment securities
Other assets

Total

Off-balance sheet
Loan commitments and other off balance sheet items

        Maximum exposure

2019
AED’000

2020
AED’000

2,948,682
7,991,833

166,207
165,285
39,105

                   
11,311,112

2,434,465
13,745,577

2,791,207
8,640,832

217,772
238,716
33,673

                   
11,922,200

3,859,945
15,782,145

Credit risk exposures relating to; 
On-balance sheet

Concentration risk 

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same 
geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be 
similarly affected by changes in economic, political, or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of 
the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location. 
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31. Financial risk management (continued)
Concentration risk  (continued)

Claims on sovereigns
Claims on banks
Claims on Corporate and Government Related 
Enterprises (GRE’s)
Claims included in the regulatory retail portfolio
Claims secured by commercial real estate 
Past due loans
Other assets
Claims secured by Residential property 
Total claims

Asset classes

Exposure before 
CRM

AED’000

Gross 
Outstanding

AED’000

Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM)

CRM

AED’000

Exposure after 
CCF  

AED’000

Risk Weighted 
Assets

AED’000

-     
-     

235,542
1,484,203

22,042
45,290

-     
-     

1,787,077

1,410,289
3,118,923

5,815,799
2,414,016
2,517,809

637,919
1,179,055

5,668
17,099,478

1,410,289
3,118,923

5,821,706
2,418,201
2,518,309
1,080,566
1,179,055

5,668
17,552,717

1,410,289
3,118,912

4,793,728
1,605,307
2,296,148

637,919
1,179,055

5,668
15,047,026

-     
679,745

4,398,013
758,549

2,274,105
758,892

1,059,992
5,524

9,934,820

9,934,820

31 December 2020

Total credit risk weighted assets

Credit risk and risk weights 

Credit exposures to individual customers or customer groups are controlled through a tiered hierarchy of delegated 
approval authorities. Approval is required from the UAE Central Bank for exposures which are likely to exceed single 
counterparty / group limit(s), keeping in view the regulatory capital base, in accordance with the regulations of monitoring 
of large exposure limits issued by the UAE Central Bank. The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by industry, 
sector and geographic location. The Group has further defined portfolio caps for its specialized businesses like Marine 
and Energy and Precious metals segments.

Claims on sovereigns
Claims on Corporate and Government related 
Enterprises (GRE) 
Claims on banks
Claims included in the regulatory retail portfolio
Claims secured by commercial real estate 
Past due loans
Other assets
Claims secured by Residential property 
Total claims

Asset classes

Exposure before 
CRM

AED’000

Gross 
Outstanding

AED’000

Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM)

CRM

AED’000

Exposure after 
CRM   

AED’000

Risk Weighted 
Assets

AED’000

-     

355,926
-     

2,675,665
11,650
60,936

-     
-     

3,104,177

1,625,204

6,759,292
3,065,164
3,419,244
2,724,964

786,324
1,131,629

8,788
19,520,609

1,625,204

6,764,978
3,065,164
3,420,226
2,725,464
1,228,914
1,135,618

8,788
19,974,356

1,625,204

5,383,436
3,065,153
2,012,444
2,494,148

786,324
1,131,629

8,788
16,507,126

-     

5,010,064
759,508
552,137

2,482,498
1,011,571
1,005,322

8,247
10,829,347
                 
10,829,347

31 December 2019

Total credit risk weighted assets
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Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables with renegotiated terms 

Loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables with renegotiated terms are loans and advances and Islamic 
financing receivables that have been rescheduled or restructured and where the Group has made concessions that 
it would not otherwise consider. Rescheduled loans are classified under stage 1 attracting 12-month ECL, whereas 
restructured loans are classified under Stage 2 attracting lifetime ECL – not credit impaired impact. 

When renegotiation happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original 
terms. The Group does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

• If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts 
the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

• Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as profit share/equity-based return that substantially affects 
the risk profile of the loan.

• Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.
• Significant change in the interest rate.
• Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.
• Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated with the 

loan.
• Discounted cash flows (DCF) after renegotiation are equal to or greater than the DCF at the time the facility was granted.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognizes the original financial asset and recognizes a ‘new’ asset at 
fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered 
to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether 
SICR has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be 
credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the obligor being 
unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as 
a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and the 
Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset. 

As a guideline, the criteria to differentiate between Restructured and Rescheduled accounts are defined in the Group 
respective risk policy.

The Group monitors the subsequent performance of modified assets. The Group may determine that the credit risk has 
significantly improved after restructuring, so that the assets are moved from Stage 3 (Lifetime ECL – credit impaired) to 
Stage 2 (Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired) to Stage 1 (12 month ECL). This is only applicable for assets which have 
performed as per the new terms in accordance with the curing criteria as adopted by the Group.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off loans and advances and Islamic financing receivables balances (and any related allowances for 
impairment losses) when it has generally exhausted all possible efforts for collection and determines that the loans and 
advances and Islamic financing receivables are no longer collectible. 

The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The Group still seeks to recover 
amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially or fully written off due to no reasonable expectation of 
recovery.

31. Financial risk management (continued)
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Cash and balances with the 
U.A.E. Central Bank
Due from other banks
Loans and advances and 
Islamic financing receivables
Investment securities
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial assets
Non-financial assets
Total

Cash and balances with the 
U.A.E. Central Bank
Due from other banks
Loans and advances and 
Islamic financing receivables
Investment securities
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial assets
Non-financial assets
Total

3 months -
  1 year

AED’000

3 months -
  1 year

AED’000

1 month -
 3 month
AED’000

1 month -
 3 month
AED’000

Upto 1
  month

AED’000

Upto 1
  month

AED’000

1 year -
  5 years
AED’000

1 year -
  5 years
AED’000

Over 5
    years 

AED’000

Over 5
    years 

AED’000

With no 
contractual 

maturity
AED’000

With no 
contractual 

maturity
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

311,915
-     

4,347,238
-     
-     
-     
-     

4,659,153

 537,174 
-     

4,582,145
238,561 

 -      
 -        
 -        

  5,357,880

100,000
215,285

694,603
709,858
84,351

-     
-     

1,804,097

 100,000 
200,000 

852,777
603,719 

  105,708
 -        
 -        

 1,862,204

275,000
443,840

258,885
-

59,077
-     
-     

1,036,802

 150,000 
200,000 

349,333    
- 

77,016 
 -        
 -        

 776,349 

823,996
2,288,004

207,609
233,496
22,779
39,105

-     
3,614,989

 942,274 
2,390,762 

238,186
258,737 
 35,048 
33,673

 -        
 3,898,680 

-     
-     

2,131,321
-     
-     
-     
-     

2,131,321

 
- 
 -   

2,240,828
 -   
 -   
 -   

                -   
2,240,828

 - 
 - 

 - 
 - 
 - 
 - 

299,682
299,682

 
- 
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

161,631
161,631

1,510,911
2,947,129

7,639,656
943,354
166,207
39,105

299,682
13,546,044

 1,729,448 
2,790,762 

8,263,269
1,101,017 

217,772
33,673

161,631
14,297,572

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

32. Liquidity risk

Maturity profile

The maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of contractual maturity. The table below sets 
out the Group’s assets, liabilities, equity at carrying amounts and off balance sheet items, categorised by the earlier of 
contractual repricing or maturity dates. 

Assets
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Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic 
customer deposits
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial liabilities
Non-financial liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
A. Total on-balance sheet items
Forward rate contracts
Spot / Split Sale
Guarantees
Unavailed limits
B. Total off-balance sheet items
Grand total [A+B]

Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic 
customer deposits
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial liabilities
Non-financial liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
A. Total on-balance sheet items
Forward rate contracts
Spot / Split Sale
Guarantees
Unavailed limits
B. Total off-balance sheet items
Grand total [A+B]

 -   
 

3,536,809
-        

23,512
-     
-     

3,560,321
-     
-     
-     
-     
-     

3,560,321

 -   
 

4,145,543 
 -   

 24,663 
-
-

4,170,206 
-
-
-
-
- 

4,170,206 

 -   

1,592,477
84,351
45,630

-       
-     

1,722,458
165,285
13,737

-     
366,809
545,831

2,268,289

 -   

 1,746,374 
 105,708 
 63,449 

-
-

 1,915,531 
-
-

594
471,371
471,965

2,387,496

 -   

780,519
59,077

264,667
-       
-     

1,104,263
-     
-     
-     

42,124
42,124

1,146,387

 -   

1,132,663 
 77,016 
 64,761 

-
-

1,274,440 
-
-
-

76,916
76,916

1,351,356

25

2,315,028
22,779
75,281

-        
-       

2,413,113
92,675

386
4,579

508,089
605,729

3,018,842

 423 
 

2,010,503 
 35,048 
 85,085 

-
-

 2,131,059 
 19,335 

 103 
 198 

630,140 
649,776

2,780,835

 -   
 

25
-     

26,388
-     
-     

26,413
-     
-     
-     
-       
-     

26,413

 -   
 

25 
 -   

 15,115 
-
-

 15,140
-
-
-
-
-

15,140

 -   

 -     
-     
-     

22,054
4,697,422
4,719,476

-     
-     
-     
-     
-     

4,719,476

 -   

 -   
   -

-
20,810

4,769,996
4,790,806

-
-
-
-
-

4,790,806

25

8,224,858
166,207
435,478
22,054

4,697,422
13,546,044

257,960
14,123
4,579

917,022
1,193,684

14,739,728

423 

 9,035,108 
 217,772 
 253,073

20,810
4,769,996

14,297,182
 19,335 

 103 
 792 

 1,178,427 
1,198,657

15,495,839

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

32. Liquidity risk (continued)
Maturity profile (continued)

Liabilities, equity and off-balance sheet items

3 months -
  1 year

AED’000

3 months -
  1 year

AED’000

1 month -
 3 month
AED’000

1 month -
 3 month
AED’000

Upto 1
  month

AED’000

Upto 1
  month

AED’000

1 year -
  5 years
AED’000

1 year -
  5 years
AED’000

Over 5
    years 

AED’000

Over 5
    years 

AED’000

With no 
contractual 

maturity
AED’000

With no 
contractual 

maturity
AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000
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32. Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial liabilities 
Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic 
customer deposits
Borrowing from the 
U.A.E. Central Bank

Letters of credit and guarantees

Financial liabilities 
Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic 
customer deposits

Letters of credit and guarantees

Derivatives
Foreign currency 
forward contracts 

-     

(1,592,477)

-
(1,592,477)
(1,808,975)

-     

(1,765,319)
(1,765,319)

(375,438)

(25)

(3,095,547)

(198,560)
(3,294,132)

(607,000)

(423)

(3,150,240)
(3,150,663)

(765,453)

257,674
257,674

524
524

(25)

(8,020,855)

(198,560)
(8,219,440)
(2,433,370)

(423)

(9,061,945)
(9,062,368)
(3,859,945)

2
2

4
4

25

8,224,858

198,560
8,423,443
2,434,464

423

9,035,108
9,035,531
3,859,945

211
211

-
-

-     

(3,332,500)

-
(3,332,500)

(16,014)

-     

(4,145,721)
(4,145,721)

(36,164)

-     

(308)

-
(308)

(1,381)

-     

(638)
(638)

(4,578)

-     

(23)

-
(23)

-

-     

(27)
(27)

(2,678,312)

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2020 based on contractual 
undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice was given immediately. 
However, the Group expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date, the Group could be 
required to pay and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history.

The positive/ negative fair values of derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group, at the reporting date are as 
below:

Within 3 
months

AED’000

Within 3 
months

AED’000

Notional 
Value

AED’000

Notional 
Value

AED’000

Gross 
nominal 
outflows
AED’000

Gross 
nominal 
outflows
AED’000

Negative 
fair value
AED’000

Negative 
fair value
AED’000

Carrying 
amount

AED’000

Carrying 
amount

AED’000

Positive 
fair value
AED’000

Positive 
fair value
AED’000

2020 2019

Over 3 
months to 

1 year
AED’000

Over 3 
months to 

1 year
AED’000

Over 1 year 
to 3 years

AED’000

Over 1 year 
to 3 years

AED’000

Over 3 years 
to 5 years

AED’000

Over 3 years 
to 5 years

AED’000

Over 5 years
AED’000

Over 5 years
AED’000
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Chairman’s Report

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to welcome you all to the 31st annual general meeting of National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain (NBQ) and present the 
annual report of the Board of Directors for the year ended 31st Dec 2013.

I am pleased to inform you that following a policy of balancing prudence with profitability, NBQ has achieved  total revenue of AED 659.928 million for the 
year ending 31st December 2013 ( 2012: AED 623.194 million) and  net Operating profit before provision figure of AED 441.329 million ( 2012 : 369.824 
million). The net profit of AED 368 million achieved for the same year is 12% higher than the net profit of AED 328.525 million recorded for 2012.  Total 
assets amounted to AED 12.538 billion,    Loans portfolio stood at AED 7.077 billion while Customer deposits amounted to AED 7.441 billion.

Shareholders’ funds at   AED 3.702 billion as at 31.12.2013, registered an increase of 8.2% over the figure of AED 3.419 billion as 31/12/2012. Earnings 
per share increased to 23 fils for 2013, from 21 fils in 2012.

In line with the strategy adopted since 2008 to maintain high liquidity, as at 31st Dec 2013,   liquidity ratio stood at 30.17%. The bank continues to maintain 
one of the highest Capital Adequacy ratios in the country, and  as  at 31st Dec 2013,  recorded a  Capital Adequacy ratio of 33.8 %  well over the minimum 
12% stipulated by the UAE Central Bank, which is highlighting the Bank’s financial strength. Likewise the Tier 1 ratio of 32.2 % is also well in excess of the 
minimum 7% stipulated by the UAE Central Bank.

In order to strengthen the shareholders’ funds further by retaining a portion of the profit earned, the Board has recommended payment of cash dividend 
of 16% and share dividend of 5% of the Share Capital for the year ending 31st December 2013.

The decline to the global economy during the earlier four years was to some extent arrested during 2013, and in particular, the US economy registered a 
small growth and the euro area is crawling out of recession.  The UAE economy is likely to register a growth of around 4 % for 2014, thanks to a robust 
4.5% growth in non-oil economy according to the IMF estimates. Dubai’s winning bid to host the Expo 2020 is seen as a major catalyst in its economic 
rebound according to most economists and analysts.  The US tapering is expected to have an impact on interest rates in the medium to long term. Both 
the DFM and ADX bourses received the upgrade to the emerging market status by MSCI during the year, which resulted in them recording one of their 
highest growths in the recent years. Overall, the banking sector in the UAE has seen a good growth in 2013 amidst positive macroeconomic performances. 
Looking ahead, the global activity is expected to strengthen moderately and the outlook for 2014, with improved investor sentiments, GDP is expected to 
improve to 4.5% according to the IMF estimates.

NBQ continued to adopt a cautious approach towards credit expansion and concentrated its efforts on close monitoring of the existing credit portfolio. 
Going forward, the Bank has a clear strategy in place to further enhance shareholder returns and take advantage of the expected growth opportunities in 
select sectors and to continue its policy of cautious expansion of its activity.

Looking ahead, during 2014, the UAE government is expected to increase spending on infra-structure projects especially with the improvement to the 
investors’ sentiment on the back of Dubai winning its bid to host the 2020. The bank is confident of building on its strong balance sheet with a balanced 
growth of its assets and liabilities on the back of targeted increase to government budget spending.  The strategic development plans launched under 
the initiatives of His Highness Sh.Khalifa Bin Zayed Al Nahyan, President of the UAE, in all the emirates, based on the needs and aspirations of the UAE 
nationals, is certain to improve the quality of life of all the communities in the UAE.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express my gratitude to His Highness Sheikh Saud Bin Rashid Al Mualla – Ruler of Umm Al-Qaiwain 
and Member of the Supreme Council of the United Arab Emirates – for his continued support for the development of NBQ.

I would also like to state my appreciation for the ongoing initiatives and support of the UAE Central Bank to regulate the country’s financial sector and for 
their helpful guidance to NBQ during this year. Equally important has been the steadfast confidence of our shareholders, the loyalty of our customers and 
business partners and the dedicated efforts of our management and staff. Together they have contributed to the success of NBQ and continue to provide 
us with the strength and determination to face all future challenges.

RASHID BIN SAUD AL MUALLA
Chairman
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33. Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest 
rates on its financial position and cash flows. The table below sets out the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying 
amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

Cash and balances with the U.A.E. Central bank
Due from other banks
Loans and advances and Islamic receivables
Investment securities
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial assets
Total

Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customer deposits
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial liabilities

Total

Cash and balances with the U.A.E. Central bank
Due from other banks
Loans and advances and Islamic receivables
Investment securities
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial assets
Total

On balance sheet interest rate sensitivity gap
Off balance sheet interest rate sensitivity gap

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap

From 3 months to
  1 year

AED’000

From 3 months to
  1 year

AED’000

Less than
3 months
AED’000

Less than
3 months
AED’000

Non-interest
 bearing
AED’000

Non-interest
 bearing
AED’000

Over 1
    year 

AED’000

Over 1
    year 

AED’000

Total
AED’000

Total
AED’000

 
 -        
-     

3,299,740
-     
-     
-     

3,299,740
                 

-     
1,114,969

-     
-     

                 
1,114,969

 
-     
-     

1,558,104
 238,562 

-     
-     

  1,796,666

2,184,771
-

2,184,771

 
100,000
50,000

118,153
165,036

-     
-     

433,189
                 

-     
1,571,883

-     
-     

                 
1,571,883

 
 100,000 
 200,000 
 122,919 

-     
-     
-     

 422,919 

(1,138,694)
-

(1,138,694)

 985,000
2,871,489
4,212,775

-     
-     
-     

8,069,264
                 

-     
4,031,458

-     
-     

                 
4,031,458

 500,000 
 2,566,439 
 6,571,137 

-     
-     
-     

 9,637,576 

4,037,806
-

4,037,806

 
 425,911

25,640
8,988

778,318
166,207
39,105

1,444,169
                 

25
1,506,548

166,207
435,478

                 
2,108,258

 
 1,129,448 

 24,323 
 11,109 

 862,455 
 217,772 
 33,673 

  2,278,780

(664,089)
(935,338)

(1,599,427)

 
1,510,911
2,947,129
7,639,656

943,354
166,207
39,105

13,246,362
                 

25
8,224,858

166,207
435,478

                 
8,826,568

 
 1,729,448 
 2,790,762 
  8,263,269
 1,101,017 

 217,772 
 33,673 

 14,135,941

4,419,794
(935,338)

3,484,456

At 31 December 2020

At 31 December 2019

Financial assets

Financial assets
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Method and assumptions for sensitivity analysis

• Since interest rates are almost at the lower end of the interest rate cycles, hence rate sensitive analysis is undertaken
• If interest rates may go up or down by 200 bps. 200 bps is taken as per Basel guidelines.
• Interest rate change takes place uniformly across all time buckets upto 1 year for net interest income impact.
• Interest rate change takes place at the midpoint of each time bucket.
• Other parameters remain unchanged.
• Impact on net interest income upto next 1 year is worked out.
• For impact on equity, (EVE analysis), weighted modified duration of Rate Sensitive Assets (“RSA”) and Rate Sensitive 

Liabilities (“RSL”) for all buckets has been worked out and its net impact calculated.
• RSA and RSL have been captured based on earlier of the re-pricing or maturity date.

Rate sensitivity analysis

Impact on net interest income and net income from Islamic financing and investment activities

Financial liabilities
Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customer deposits
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial liabilities

Total

On balance sheet interest rate sensitivity gap
Off balance sheet interest rate sensitivity gap

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap

-     
 2,053,940 

-     
-     

                 
 2,053,940 

  (257,274)
-

  (257,274)

-     
 1,716,442 

-     
-     

                 
 1,716,442 

(1,293,523)
-

(1,293,523)

  -     
 4,001,499 

-     
-     

                 
 4,001,499 

5,636,077 
-

5,636,077 

  423 
 1,263,227 

 217,772 
 253,073 

                 
 1,734,495 

 544,285
(1,179,219)

(634,934)

 423 
 9,035,108 

 217,772 
 253,073 

                 
 9,506,376 

  4,629,565
(1,179,219)

3,450,346

33. Interest rate risk (continued)

Bps
200 -67,050 -88,619+67,050 +88,619

Downward 
shift

Downward 
shift

Upward 
shift

Upward 
shift

2020 2019
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Financial assets
Cash and balances with the 
U.A.E. Central Bank
Due from other banks
Loans and advances and Islamic receivables
Investment securities
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial assets
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities 
Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customer deposits 
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net balance sheet position

Off balance sheet position

AED
AED’000

USD
AED’000

Other
AED’000

Total 
AED’000

1,510,424
2,143,447
7,637,422

699,503
166,207
37,469

12,194,472
                 

-      
8,087,510

166,207
435,196

                 
8,688,913

                 
3,505,559

                 
3,384,380

487
783,433

2,234
199,699

-      
244

986,097
                 

-     
118,891

-      
130

                 
119,021

867,076
                 

260,875

-     
20,249

-     
44,152

-     
1,392

65,793
                 

25
18,457

-     
152

                 
18,634

                 
47,159

                 
5,374

1,510,911
2,947,129
7,639,656

943,354
166,207
39,105

13,246,362
                 

25
8,224,858

166,207
435,478

                 
8,826,568

                 
4,419,794

                 
3,650,629

34. Currency risk
Concentration of financial assets and liabilities by currency:

At 31 December 2020
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34. Currency risk (continued)
Concentration of financial assets and liabilities by currency: (continued)

Annual Report 20137

Chairman’s Report

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to welcome you all to the 31st annual general meeting of National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain (NBQ) and present the 
annual report of the Board of Directors for the year ended 31st Dec 2013.

I am pleased to inform you that following a policy of balancing prudence with profitability, NBQ has achieved  total revenue of AED 659.928 million for the 
year ending 31st December 2013 ( 2012: AED 623.194 million) and  net Operating profit before provision figure of AED 441.329 million ( 2012 : 369.824 
million). The net profit of AED 368 million achieved for the same year is 12% higher than the net profit of AED 328.525 million recorded for 2012.  Total 
assets amounted to AED 12.538 billion,    Loans portfolio stood at AED 7.077 billion while Customer deposits amounted to AED 7.441 billion.

Shareholders’ funds at   AED 3.702 billion as at 31.12.2013, registered an increase of 8.2% over the figure of AED 3.419 billion as 31/12/2012. Earnings 
per share increased to 23 fils for 2013, from 21 fils in 2012.

In line with the strategy adopted since 2008 to maintain high liquidity, as at 31st Dec 2013,   liquidity ratio stood at 30.17%. The bank continues to maintain 
one of the highest Capital Adequacy ratios in the country, and  as  at 31st Dec 2013,  recorded a  Capital Adequacy ratio of 33.8 %  well over the minimum 
12% stipulated by the UAE Central Bank, which is highlighting the Bank’s financial strength. Likewise the Tier 1 ratio of 32.2 % is also well in excess of the 
minimum 7% stipulated by the UAE Central Bank.

In order to strengthen the shareholders’ funds further by retaining a portion of the profit earned, the Board has recommended payment of cash dividend 
of 16% and share dividend of 5% of the Share Capital for the year ending 31st December 2013.

The decline to the global economy during the earlier four years was to some extent arrested during 2013, and in particular, the US economy registered a 
small growth and the euro area is crawling out of recession.  The UAE economy is likely to register a growth of around 4 % for 2014, thanks to a robust 
4.5% growth in non-oil economy according to the IMF estimates. Dubai’s winning bid to host the Expo 2020 is seen as a major catalyst in its economic 
rebound according to most economists and analysts.  The US tapering is expected to have an impact on interest rates in the medium to long term. Both 
the DFM and ADX bourses received the upgrade to the emerging market status by MSCI during the year, which resulted in them recording one of their 
highest growths in the recent years. Overall, the banking sector in the UAE has seen a good growth in 2013 amidst positive macroeconomic performances. 
Looking ahead, the global activity is expected to strengthen moderately and the outlook for 2014, with improved investor sentiments, GDP is expected to 
improve to 4.5% according to the IMF estimates.

NBQ continued to adopt a cautious approach towards credit expansion and concentrated its efforts on close monitoring of the existing credit portfolio. 
Going forward, the Bank has a clear strategy in place to further enhance shareholder returns and take advantage of the expected growth opportunities in 
select sectors and to continue its policy of cautious expansion of its activity.

Looking ahead, during 2014, the UAE government is expected to increase spending on infra-structure projects especially with the improvement to the 
investors’ sentiment on the back of Dubai winning its bid to host the 2020. The bank is confident of building on its strong balance sheet with a balanced 
growth of its assets and liabilities on the back of targeted increase to government budget spending.  The strategic development plans launched under 
the initiatives of His Highness Sh.Khalifa Bin Zayed Al Nahyan, President of the UAE, in all the emirates, based on the needs and aspirations of the UAE 
nationals, is certain to improve the quality of life of all the communities in the UAE.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express my gratitude to His Highness Sheikh Saud Bin Rashid Al Mualla – Ruler of Umm Al-Qaiwain 
and Member of the Supreme Council of the United Arab Emirates – for his continued support for the development of NBQ.

I would also like to state my appreciation for the ongoing initiatives and support of the UAE Central Bank to regulate the country’s financial sector and for 
their helpful guidance to NBQ during this year. Equally important has been the steadfast confidence of our shareholders, the loyalty of our customers and 
business partners and the dedicated efforts of our management and staff. Together they have contributed to the success of NBQ and continue to provide 
us with the strength and determination to face all future challenges.

RASHID BIN SAUD AL MUALLA
Chairman

Rate sensitivity analysis
• Currencies are divided into two categories i) those pegged with USD and ii) all other currencies as on the Balance 

Sheet date.
• Exchange rate change of 2% in AED against the respective pegged foreign currencies and exchange rate change 

of 10% in AED against the respective other foreign currencies have been used to give a realistic assessment as a 
plausible event.

• Based on these changes the impact on profit or loss and equity has been worked out.

Financial assets
Cash and balances with the 
U.A.E. Central Bank
Due from other banks
Loans and advances and Islamic receivables
Investment securities
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial assets
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities 
Due to other banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customer deposits 
Customers’ acceptances
Other financial liabilities

Total financial liabilities

Net balance sheet position

Off balance sheet position

AED
AED’000

USD
AED’000

Other
AED’000

Total 
AED’000

 1,722,000 
 2,724,555 
8,176,090
 791,745 
 217,772 
 31,953 

13,664,115
                 

 -   
 8,854,328 

 217,772 
 250,845 

                 
 9,322,945 

4,341,170
                 
  5,063,821

 7,448 
 45,637 
 87,179 

 268,319 
 -   

 1,720 
  410,303

                 

 -   
 161,453 

 -   
 2,210 

                 
 163,663 

  246,640
                 

  23,530

 -   
 20,570 

 -   
 40,953 

 -   
 -   

61,523
                 

 423 
 19,327 

 -   
 18 

                 
 19,768 

                 
  41,755

                 
  4,643

 1,729,448 
 2,790,762 
8,263,269

 1,101,017 
 217,772 
 33,673 

14,135,941
                 

 423 
 9,035,108 

 217,772 
 253,073 

                 
 9,506,376 
                 
4,629,565

                 
5,091,994

At 31 December 2019
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Pegged Currencies
US Dollar
Saudi Riyal
Bahrain Dinar
Omani Riyal
Qatar Riyal
Other Currencies
Kuwait Dinar
Great British Pound
Euro
Swiss Frank
Japanese Yen
Indian Rupee
Lankan Rupee
Jordanian Dinar

Pegged Currencies
US Dollar
Saudi Riyal
Bahrain Dinar
Omani Riyal
Qatar Riyal
Other Currencies
Kuwait Dinar
Great British Pound
Euro
Swiss Frank
Japanese Yen
Indian Rupee
Lankan Rupee
Jordanian Dinar

Foreign
  currency  

assets
AED’000

Foreign
  currency  

assets
AED’000

Foreign 
currency

  liabilities
AED’000

Foreign c
urrency

  liabilities
AED’000

Net forward 
purchase/

(sale)
AED’000

Net forward 
purchase/

(sale)
AED’000

Net long/ (short)
  position

AED’000

Net long/ (short)
  position

AED’000

Impact on 
statement of 
income and

    equity
AED’000

Impact on 
statement of 
income and

    equity
AED’000

153,312
-     
-     
-     
8
-     
-     

16,174
2,243

6
47
25

-     
-     

171,815

 191,457 
-     
 -      
-     

 8 

-     
 15,424 
 3,833 

 8 
 72 
 86 

 338 
-     

 211,226 

987,490
43,854

216
274
64

-     
782

16,211
2,363

148
392

-     
2

99
1,051,895

 410,305 
 40,601 

 93 
 200 
 61 

 575 
 15,384 
 3,958 

 229 
 385 

-     
-     

 36 
 471,827 

(256,834)
-     
-     
-     
-     
-     
-     
-     

(135)
(208)
(356)

36
-     
-     

(257,497)

 18,447 
-     
-     
-     
-     

-     
-     

 (103)
 (190)
 (338)

 99 
 344 

-     
 18,259 

577,344
43,854

216
274
56

-     
782
37

(15)
(66)
(11)

11
2

99
622,583

 237,295 
 40,601 

 93 
 200 
 53 

 575 
 (40)

 22 
 31 

 (25)
 13 
 6 

 36 
 278,860 

(11,547)
(877)

(4)
(5)
(1)

-     
(78)
(4)

2
7
1

(1)
(0)

(10)

 (4,746)
 (812)

 (2)
 (4)
 (1)

 (58)
 4 

 (2)
 (3)

 3 
 (1)
 (1)
 (4)

Year 2020

Year 2019

Total impact if foreign currency fluctuates against AED

Total impact if foreign currency fluctuates against AED

+/-12,517

+/-5,627

34. Currency risk (continued)
Rate sensitivity analysis (continued)
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Sensitivity analysis

At the reporting date if the equity prices are 20% higher/lower as per the assumptions mentioned below and all the other 
variables were held constant, the Group’s:

• Consolidated statement of comprehensive income would have increased/decreased by AED 152 million (2019: AED 
168.3 million) and consolidated statement of income would have increased/decreased by AED 3.6 million (2019: 4.7 
million).

Method and assumptions for sensitivity analysis

• The sensitivity analysis has been done based on the exposure to equity price risk as at the reporting date.
• As at the reporting date if equity prices are 20% higher/lower on the market value uniformly for all equities while all other 

variables are held constant, the impact on profit or loss and equity has been shown above.
• A 20% change in equity prices has been used to give a realistic assessment as a plausible event.

Group’s capital management policy is to maintain a strong capital base to support the development and growth of business. 
Current and future capital requirements are determined on the basis of loan growth expectations for each business unit, 
expected growth in off-balance sheet facilities, future sources and uses of funds and Group’s future dividend policy. The 
Group also ensures compliance with externally imposed capital requirement norms, strong credit ratings and healthy capital 
ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value. During the year the Group had complied in full 
with all external imposed capital requirements. The U.A.E. Central Bank requires the banks in U.A.E. to maintain a ratio of 
total regulatory capital to the risk weighted assets at or above the agreed minimum of 13%.

35. Equity price risk

36. Capital management
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Tier 1 Capital 
Share capital
Statutory reserve
General reserve
Fair value reserves on investment securities at FVTOCI
Retained earnings
Total Tier 1

Tier 2 Capital
General reserves on loans and advances
Total Tier 2

Total Regulatory Capital

Risk weighted assets:
Credit risk-weighted assets
Market risk-weighted assets
Operations risk-weighted assets
Total risk-weighted assets

2020
AED’000

2019
AED’000

1,848,000
1,019,266

6,440
61,034

1,551,915
4,486,655

                 

124,185
124,185

                 
4,610,840

                                  

9,934,820
65,835

1,122,239
11,122,894

1,848,000
1,019,266

6,440
95,389

1,469,153
4,438,248

                 

135,367
135,367

                 
4,573,615                  

10,829,347
42,778

1,090,821
11,962,946

Capital structure

The table below details the regulatory capital resources of the Group:

BASEL III Capital Ratio

As per UAE Central Bank Regulation for Basel III, Minimum Capital Requirement including Capital Conservation Buffer is 
13% for the year 2020.

The Central Bank of UAE (‘CBUAE’) issued Basel III capital regulations, which came into effect from 1 February 2019 
(Primary reporting from Q4’2019 onwards) introducing minimum capital requirements at the three levels, namely Common 
Equity Tier 1 (‘CET 1’), Tier 1 (‘T1’) and Total Capital. 

The additional capital buffers Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB) maximum up to 2.5% and Countercyclical Capital Buffer 
(CCyB) maximum up to 2.5% introduced over and above the minimum CET1 requirements of 7%. 

 For year 2020, CCB will be required at 2.5% of the capital base. Countercyclical Capital Buffer (CCyB) is in the effect and 
is not required to be maintained for year 2020.

36. Capital management (continued)
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37. Legal proceedings

Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business undertaken. The Group has 
proper controls and policies for managing legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and the amount of loss 
reasonably estimated, the Group makes adjustments to account for any adverse effects which the claims may have on its 
financial standing. Based on the information available, no material adverse impact on the financial position of the Group is 
expected to arise from legal claims as at 31 December 2020 other than to the extent already provided, hence no additional 
provision for any claim needs to be made in these financial statements.

Minimum capital required under each of the above items including CCB is as below;

Capital ratio

Total capital adequacy ratio

Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio

Tier 1 capital ratio

Capital element
Minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) ratio
Minimum tier 1 capital ratio
Minimum capital adequacy ratio
Capital conversion buffer (CCB)

2020
%

2020

2019
%

2019

41.45
                 

40.34
                 

40.34

38.23
                 

37.10
                 

37.10

7%
8.5%

10.5%
2.5%

7%
8.5%

10.5%
2.5%

The Capital Adequacy Ratio as per Basel III capital regulation is given below:

35. Capital management (continued)
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38. Social contributions

39. Comparative figures

40. Approval of consolidated financial statements

The social contributions (including donations and charity) made during the year to various beneficiaries amount to AED 0.14 
million (2019: AED 0.42 million).

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified where appropriate to conform to the presentation and accounting 
policies adopted in these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 24 February 
2021.


